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Notes:

With effect from February 27 2023: (1) Mr. CHENG Libing has resigned
as an executive Director, the chief executive officer of the Company and
an Authorized Representative; (2) Mr. YU Hai has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company; (3) Mr.
SONG Qing has been appointed as an Authorized Representative; (4) Mr.
LEE Kar Chung Felix has resigned as a member of the Audit Committee;
(5) Mr. HU Hui has resigned as a member of the Remuneration Committee;
and (6) Mr. FU Tingmei has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of the

Remuneration Committee;

With effect from June 13, 2023: (1) Ms. REN Yuan has resigned as an
executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer; (2) Mr. LEE Kar Chung
Felix has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee;
(3) Ms. YANG Min has been appointed as an executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer; (4) Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony has been appointed as
a member of the Nomination Committee; and (5) Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong
has been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee; and

With effect from September 14, 2023: (1) Mr. HU Hui has resigned as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee; (2) Ms.
GE Lu has been appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of
the Remuneration Committee; (3) Mr. ZHOU Peng has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee; and (4) Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong has resigned as a member of
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. SO Yiu Fung

14/F,

Kunlun Center Office Building

No. 9, Fuyi Street
Fengtai District, Beijing
The People’s Republic of China
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATFEH

Room 2603, 26/F, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai,

HKSAR

Harneys Fiduciary (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Harbour Place

103 South Church Street,

P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands

Harneys Fiduciary (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Harbour Place

103 South Church Street,

P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Wanchai

HKSAR

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong SAR

hEARANE
EABIITHEET
B E265%

5 P A [H261%2603%

Harneys Fiduciary (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Harbour Place

103 South Church Street,

PO. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands

Harneys Fiduciary (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Harbour Place

103 South Church Street,

PO. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands

BEAPRBHELERLE
hEE N RHAE
HEARITEHERE
EIFERABEHR1835E
B AL
17181712-17165% 84

EHERE 5T EME T

MEGSTEM

(g st R BHERBFEG ) Ty
N m B RS HED

EARME

BARAFHITHE

HRIRIEFT 1058

ANFARE8HE

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



As to Hong Kong Law

Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

Suites 3203-3207, 32/F
Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen'’s Road Central, Central
HKSAR

China Merchants Bank

2nd Floor, Tower A

156 Fuxingmennei Street
Xicheng District

Beijing

The People’s Republic of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Room 102, Block 16, Court 2, East Baizhifang Street
Xicheng District

Beijing

The People’s Republic of China

DBS Bank Ltd, Hong Kong Branch
18th Floor, The Center

99 Queen'’s Road Central, Central
HKSAR

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
25/F, CCB Tower

3 Connaught Road Central, Central

HKSAR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERHBE

Dear Shareholders,

The healthcare industry has always been a key focus for
our country. Developing the healthcare sector and providing
high-level medical services are intrinsic requirements to
meet the people’s aspirations for a better quality of life and
an important prerequisite for creating a better life for the
people. With the introduction of the “Work Plan for Supporting
the High-Quality Development of State-Owned Enterprises
in Operating Medical Institutions” and its related measures
jointly issued by the SASAC, the National Health Commission,
the National Development and Reform Commission, and
other thirteen departments at the end of 2022, state-owned
enterprise-operated medical institutions have been integrated
into the regional healthcare service system since then. They
have become important forces in providing basic medical
services and contributing to the Healthy China Scheme. These
institutions play a crucial role in meeting the growing diverse
healthcare service demands of the people, addressing major
epidemics, and responding to public health emergencies. In the
future, state-owned enterprise-operated medical institutions
will transition towards a progressive and sustainable
development model, as high-quality and sustainable
development is the trend.

Looking back at 2023, the Group successfully completed the
acquisitions of the Liaojian and Jiangneng subsidiaries. These
newly integrated entities have undergone profound integration
within China Resources Group, resulting in significant
improvements in operational quality and performance,
securing a favorable position in regional competition. Practice
has proven that the “merger, integration, and injection”
approach for state-owned hospitals can create greater value
for all parties involved and achieve mutual success. Meanwhile,
the Group actively promotes the development of leading
hospitals and regional integration. We have increased capital
expenditures in alignment with disciplinary development,

Song Qing Ri&
Chairman EEZ £

FZNIRRER -

BEREBETE —_HEBXRBMINERMTE
ERBERBETHE BRHESKTHNERS
EHRBEMEARBEHFEETFTENRNE
EX MBRIEAREHFEENERAR
BBE2022FEHEEZ HRE -URNEE
L —BFIM S ENER (IR A XM E
FREcHERRIFHE)REBMER
= BEEHBREEBERAZISEEHE
BEERBER NAREERBRRS
ERERTENERNE  Eme ARER
HmiERNZER SHRICBERERSE
KoBHBERBBNREARBEEHESS
EFESEEEEZFA R BEERER
MEABESHNRIEBRMERKENBE
HSEB AIRNEERERKRIME-

[ BE20234F » AE B SRl 7 WA B ML 5E
RREYBY UL RS - R OF A B SUREY > #ASB T
EFRENBEG KEHBNXERRE
BRERA FEEHRFPEEAFNUE -
BERER BETtBRITE -EG EAIH
AR PAURSEKGAEEXREE BR
HF o BIL [P B » 7 58 [ A5 ik i B B2 5R B8 e
NMes—ftRz BEErERnm M
REAMTHR A EERMECEENER
LEE  ZHIRAEABRENBREBMNK
BN FR HERBRERI] SR E—
RRIEFa  HReERNER/NEBEKE B

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



combined with refined management and group operations,
to enhance the medical quality and operational efficiency
of our leading hospitals. Additionally, the leading hospitals
take the lead in creating a platform for regional integration,
collaborating with various small and medium-sized medical
institutions within the region. This approach involves
comprehensive planning and management, differentiated
development, significantly improving system efficiency,
and helping multiple small and medium-sized medical
institutions within the region turn losses into profits. The
Group continues to prioritize medical technology as the core,
focusing on disciplinary evaluation and planning as the starting
point, constantly enhancing disciplinary competitiveness,
gradually increasing investment in disciplines, and achieving
notable results. During the Reporting Period, our member
hospitals added 9 provincial key specialties, 31 municipal
key specialties, and 67 new specialty clinics for specific
diseases. We initiated 37 national-level centralized projects
and implemented 323 new technology projects. We conducted
43 new drug clinical trial projects with Good-Clinical Practice
(GCP) and obtained 14 patent authorizations. The Group has
gradually increased research and development investment,
with a 206% year-on-year growth in R&D investment in 2023.
Moreover, we have continued to deepen the construction of
the patient service system, focusing on the evaluation system
for patient service capabilities. We have strengthened the
foundation of hospitals and addressed shortcomings, improved
patient service management mechanisms, centered services
around patients, effectively enhanced the experience of the
masses seeking medical treatment, and achieved significant
improvements in patient satisfaction. Simultaneously, driven
by reform and innovation, we have deepened organizational
restructuring, promoted structural reforms, and accelerated
digital transformation to facilitate high-quality and sustainable
development of our hospitals. During the Reporting Period, the
Group's medical business recorded an increase in conventional
outpatient visits exceeding 10 million, a year-on-year growth
of 97%, and achieved operating revenue of RMB10.11 billion,
a year-on-year increase of 79.8% (both are referred to the
non-restated figures of 2022). On behalf of the Board of
China Resources Medical, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, partners, and employees. Thanks
to your unwavering support, long-term trust, and collective
efforts, China Resources Medical has taken solid strides and
made progress amidst the ever-changing tide.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on the
strategic emerging industries, centering on state-owned
hospital reforms, and drive the improvement of medical
technology levels and healthcare service efficiency through
comprehensive innovation, achieving high-quality and
sustainable development. Additionally, we will continue to
fulfill our social responsibilities, strengthen market value
management, expand communication channels with the
capital market, and convey the investment value of China
Resources Medical, providing solid performance to repay the
trust and support of all shareholders.

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
SONG Qing
Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEwED

The release of the “Plan for Supporting the High-Quality
Development of State-owned Enterprisesin Operating Medical
Institutions” by the end of 2022 highlights the important
position and positive role of state-owned enterprises in China’s
healthcare service industry. While requiring state-owned
hospitals to accelerate their integration into the regional
public healthcare network, the policy also encourages state-
owned enterprises to innovate their mode of operation and
give full play to their advantages in group operation and
management. Under the guidance of the national healthcare
reform policy, the development of hospitals has moved from
the original emphasis on a single indicator to a comprehensive
and balanced era of high-quality development. From the
perspective of the objective rule of industry development,
group hospitalization has been proved to have a higher
development ceiling than monolithic hospitals, and will be an
important direction for the future reform of the healthcare
industry.

In 2023, the Group, as a leading state-owned hospital group
in terms of scale, gave full play to its advantages of grouping,
accelerated its integration into the regional healthcare
planning landscape, fully unleashed its organizational vitality
through the entrepreneurial mechanism, and enhanced its
core competencies in terms of disciplines construction, patient
services and operation and management in an innovative
manner, thereby achieving reasonable quantitative growth
and effective qualitative enhancement. During the Reporting
Period, the Group completed the acquisitions of LH Subjects
and JE Subject by the end of June 2023 through the “merger-
integration-injection” approach, further expanding its hospital
network and laying a solid foundation for future high-quality
development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company confirms that according to the IFRS Accounting
Standards and the accounting policies of the Group, the Group
has retrospectively consolidated the financial results of the
LH Subjects and the JE Subject from June 2, 2022 (the date on
which the Group, the LH Subjects and the JE Subject started to
come under common control). The comparative figures of the
Group's financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2022 (the "Comparative Figures”) have been restated, that is,
the financial results of the LH Subjects and the JE Subject from
June 2, 2022 have been included in Comparative Figures. The
Group's financial results for the Reporting Period have included
the financial results of the LH Subjects and the JE Subject
starting from January 1, 2023. Further details of the aforesaid
transactions and the accounting arrangement could be found
in the announcements of the Company dated February 22,
2023, May 17, 2023 and June 30, 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated April 27, 2023.

With the effect of the aforesaid accounting arrangement, the
consolidated revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period
amounted to RMB10.108 billion (FY2022 (restated): RMB7.901
billion), and the consolidated net profit of the Group for
the Reporting Period amounted to RMB328 million (FY2022
(restated): RMB328 million). Earnings per share of the Company
for the Reporting Period amounted to RMBO0.20 (FY2022
(restated): RMB0.21). Among them, the consolidated revenue
and the consolidated net profit brought by the LH Member
Institutions and JE Member Medical Institutions amounted
to RMB4.096 billion and RMB383 million, respectively. During
the Reporting Period, self-owned hospitals of the Company
recorded a year-on-year improvement in terms of business
volume, revenue and operating profit.

Scale of our operation

As of December 31, 2023, the Group managed and operated
a total of 134 medical institutions in 10 provinces and cities
in the PRC. During the Reporting Period, the number of
conventional out-patient visits and in-patient visits of self-
owned hospitals were approximately 10,140,000 and 550,000,
respectively, representing the respective year-on-year increase
of 10.0% and 10.2%.
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KAB)ERRIBEERYBRESE5 2R &
REENGTHR > REEBE2022F6H2H
(AP AEEAEEEZNFIIEZENGBE
RE—ZEFI B R BB a HERZENM
IRERN M BER - AEBEE2022F
12ANHEFEENMHBERKROLLREE (T
BE8E)) BETEM BB ERENFITEE
B E2022F6H2BENF B EET AL
REFE - AERRSHPNNMBEEEESS
ERENAIELENBE2023F1818EZ
MHEER PTG REE St RIEL
BARANG HEA20235F2822H 202345
B178 52023FE6 B30HN A S A QB H
HA#32023F4827HEVZE K ©

RFE LB St RETH 2N AER
RERHBRESEXBAREK101.08ET
(202FEHHEE (KEF)) | ARHET79.01
B MBREPAEREFREFIEAAR
#3.28F 7T (2022 EE (KEF)) !
ART3.28ET) REREBF AR0.207T
(2022 ERE (KEF)) © ARKO0.21
7T) ; B EMEREMERITER B BB
BERNGEEEEBRESFH B 25
A ANREA0.96E TR AR E3.83127T o IR
SR ARBEEERETERKE  WAM
SRS R A FEERBIRF

KSR

B E2023F 128310 ZAEBEFE101E
B HHEEBEEZ1IUAREERE -NRE
B AEEERERERZEMZENE
PrED A A1,01488 AXFE58 AR 5
AR EEBHIER10.0%%10.2% ©

FEHEREITRERAT R SFERS



12

List of Medical Institutions under the Group'’s

Management and Operation

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmRED

FEEEEEERBREBOME

Grade |

Hospitals Clinics &

and Other

Community Medical

Grade Il Grade Il Centres Institutions

Hospitals ~ Hospitals —#REFTKk 2T REM

Province/City A1B /I m =Bl ZHREBER  ftERL  BEES
Beijing b= 3 4 8 26 41
Liaoning b 5 10 10 7 32
Jiangxi PN 1 3 4 3 11
Shandong TS - 1 1 4 6
Shanxi L 7g - 1 - - 1
Jiangsu JLER - 2 - - 2
Anhui T 1 1 16 4 22
Hubei A6 2 - 3 7 12
Guangdong == 1 1 - 2 4
Guangxi Er - 2 1 - 3
Total =511 13 25 43 53 134

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



Operating data for Year 2023

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENwAD R

2023F EEHIE

Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)

BEEBWA NRETT)

Revenue Revenue Revenue

Utilization from from from
rate of Number of Number of outpatient  inpatient physical
beds outpatients  inpatients visits visits examination

RIBEAR AR ERAR  FMZRA &R EBREA

Number of
beds in
operation
BERH
Self-owned Hospitals ~ BE &k 18,617
- LH Member - BEMENE
Institutions and RIIEME
JE Member BEKE
Medical Institutions 11,165

83.7% 10,191,416 554,547 3,706,247 5,473,459 226,447 9,406,153

82.4% 4,635,307 318,807 1577311 2,387,143 132,710 4,097,164

Operating data for Year 2022

Number of
beds in
operation

BERUEH

2022F S EMIE
Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)
PEAR BREBUA ARETT)

Revenue Revenue Revenue
Utilization from from from

rate of Number of Number of outpatient  inpatient physical

beds outpatients  inpatients visits visits examination

RIGEAR  PZAR ERAX  FZBA  GREA  BRRA

Self-owned Hospitals BB &R 19,193 76.3% 16,373,433 503,382 3,400,955 5,060,994 213,350 8,675,299
- LH Member - ERMEKE
Institutions and RIEMRE
JE Member BRgRE
Medical Institutions 11,544 74.1% 8,733,713 287609 1,401,756 2,312,538 118,827 3,833,121
Notes: N

(1) In respect of the operating data statistics, the abovementioned self-owned (1) TEEHEREN LB A ERAEAER

hospitals refer to all consolidated hospitals.

PRA Bt =BT

(2)  The operating data for years 2022 and 2023 both include annual operating  (2)  2022FEM2023EEEH#E O ERMEMBERT
data of LH Member Institutions and JE Member Medical Institutions. BERNEBEKE Y BREES K-

ENBRRERARAT —T=FERE 13
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BEEmES

Financial data

The table below sets out the key financial figures of the
Group by business segments for the specific years:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R 15 &R

TR EESERBREFENE D
BRI BEN

2023 2022 Year-on-Year Change
2023%F 20228 FILL& 15
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  Percentage
AER®ETRT ARETT ARETR Bt
Hospital Business BhRER
Revenue —E3 9,406,153 7053,146 2,353,007 33.4%
- Revenue from out-patient visits —PIRS EFKWA 3,932,694 2,968,853 963,841 32.5%
- Revenue from in-patient visits —EBEBRA 5,473,459 4,084,293 1,389,166 34.0%
Segment gross profit DEEF 1,734,835 1,086,516 648,319 59.7%
Segment results DEEE 637978 464,875 173,103 372%
Other Business Hitn %%
Revenue X0 701,347 848,141 -146,794 -173%
Segment gross profit NEEF 171,002 219,319 -48,317 -22.0%
Segment results DI 235,868 253,114 -17246 -6.8%
Total At
Revenue =E 10,107,500 7901,287 2,206,213 279%
Segment gross profit DEEF] 1,905,837 1,305,835 600,002 45.9%
Segment results NEEE 873,846 717,989 155,857 21.7%
Notes: [
(1) Hospital business includes: outpatient business, inpatient business (1) BIREHOE BEBRNMZER EREHK-
corresponding to self-owned hospitals.
(2) Other businesses include: operation management services, supply chain (2) HMEROE  A2RER - IOT/OTE R EE

services and other ancillary services provided to participating hospitals and

I0T/OT hospitals.

Hospital Business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of outpatient services
was RMB3.933 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
32.5%, and the revenue of inpatient services was RMB5.473
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 34.0%

EIRARFS ~ AR AR R H AT AR TS ©

ES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Period, the profit of hospital business
segment was RMB638 million, representing an increase of
37.2% over the same period last year. Among them: (1) the
LH Subjects and JE Subject contributed a profit of RMB479
million during the Reporting Period; and (2) the Stock Hospitals
contributed a profit of RMB159 million during the Reporting
Period. After excluding the one-time impairment impact of
Huaiyin Hospital, during the Reporting Period, the profit of
Stock Hospitals was RMB484 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of 47.4%. The growth was mainly due to the
further improvement of operation and management efficiency.

Other Business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of other business
was RMB701 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
17.3%, and the profit of other business was RMB236 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.8%.

Material Acquisitions - The Acquisitions of
LH Subject Equity, JE Subject Equity and JE
Subject Debts

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS — The Acquisitions of LH Subject Equity, JE
Subject Equity and JE Subject Debts” of this report, the Group
did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Reporting
Period.

Significant Investments - Investments in
Associates — JR Holdings & JR Renkang

The Board considers any single investment with fair value
accounting for more than 5% of the total assets of the Group
as significant investment. Other than the investments in JR
Holdings and JR Renkang as set out below, the Group did not
have any single investment accounting for 5% or more of the
total assets of the Group as at December 31, 2023.

EEERED

RERERRN BREHDMEBEARES.38
Bor > BB M37.2% « HAp (1)EBREN
MOIRERMNREAANTMDMEBARE
479870 ; RRFEBRDBEREHARNE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE AT

On June 28, 2020, the Group entered into a restructuring
agreement regarding the establishment of two associates
with Jing Mei Group, pursuant to which Beijing Jing Run
Renkang Holdings Co., Ltd. ("JR Holdings”) and Beijing Jing
Run Renkang Hospital Management Co., Ltd. ("JR Renkang”)
were established and held by the Group and the Jing Mei
Group as to 49% and 51%, respectively. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated June 28, 2020 for further
details of the aforesaid transaction.

As at December 31, 2023, JR Holdings and JR Renkang
were associates of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant
arrangements under the abovementioned agreement, JR
Holdings has been the sponsor of Jing Mei Hospital Group and
JR Renkang has been providing hospital management services
to the Jing Mei Hospital Group. The Group’s investment costs in
JR Holdings and JR Renkang amounted to RMB874 million and
RMB2.45 million, respectively. As at December 31, 2023, the
Group holds a 49% equity interest in each of JR Holdings and
JR Renkang, with a carrying amount of investment of RMB918
million and RMB59.15 million, respectively, representing
approximately 7.2% of the total assets of the Group in total.

During the Reporting Period, JR Holdings and JR Renkang
achieved a revenue of RMB223 million in aggregate, resulting
in a combined net profit of RMB185 million. The net profit of
JR Holdings and JR Renkang attributing to the Group was 90.78
million and the Group has received RMB88.88 million FY2022
dividend in total distributed by JR Holdings and JR Renkang.

During 2023, the Jing Mei Hospital Group was the leading
hospitals in Mentougou district and one of the core medical
institutions in the western region of Beijing, and its profitability
remained stable compared to the previous year, and its
operational performance continued to be satisfactory. The
Group believes that the investment in JR Holdings and JR
Renkang, as well as the cooperation with the Jing Mei Group,
fully leverages the respective strengths of the Jing Mei Group
and the Group, and the current cooperation model represents
a deepened cooperation based on the original cooperation,
and it is expected that the relevant investment will be
maintained.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Investment - Investment in UMP
Healthcare Holdings

UMP Healthcare Holdings, listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 722.HK), is mainly engaged in
providing healthcare solutions and service in Hong Kong.
Details of investment in UMP Healthcare Holdings have been
disclosed in the Company’s annual reports in prior years.
Pursuant to the relevant accounting standards, the Company
has categorized the investment in UMP Healthcare Holdings
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. As at
December 31, 2023, the fair value of our investment in UMP
Healthcare Holdings was approximately RMB49.08 million.

Future Plans for Material Investment or
Capital Assets

As at the date of this report, there are currently no concrete
plans to acquire any material investment or capital assets
other than those conducted in the Group’s ordinary course of
business.

Future Outlook

Against the backdrop of China’s long-term economic upturn
and high-quality development, the industry will usher in a
broader space for development and greater opportunities
as the level of economic and social development and the
living standards of the people continue to rise, and the
people's demand for all-round, full-cycle health services
grows. Under the guidance of “Plan for Supporting the
High-Quality Development of State-owned Enterprises in
Operating Medical Institutions “ (No. 77 of SASDF Reform
[2022]), governments and departments at all levels have
introduced and landed complementary policies one after
another to further support medical treatment run by state-
owned enterprises. As an important part of China’s healthcare
service system, the important position and role of state-owned
hospitals have been widely recognised and will continue to
play an important role in China’s healthcare reform. At the
same time, the practice of the medical industry has shown
that entrepreneurial mechanism and group development are
conducive to activating organisational vitality, bringing into play
the scale effect and improving operational efficiency, and we
firmly believe that group development is one of the important
directions for the future development of the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE AT

China Resources Medical will continue to give full play to the
advantages of a state-owned medical group, fully release
the organisational vitality, continue to improve the core
competencies of discipline construction, patient service,
operation and management, and build a medical business
operation model with the characteristics of China Resources
Medical, and strive to achieve further improvement in
operational efficiency and core competencies, so as to lay a
solid foundation for the realisation of the 14th Five-Year Plan
strategic objectives and the development of the 15th Five-
Year Plan. Firstly, we will continue to build leading hospitals,
accelerate the construction of provincial and municipal key
specialties, jointly carry out scientific research projects, and
expand the GCP (Good Clinical Practice) programme, SO as
to promote the overall synergistic development of medical
education and research, play a leading role in refined operation
and patient services, and continuously expand our competitive
advantages in the region. Secondly, we will continue to deepen
the regional integrated management and the construction of
regional medical consortiums, so as to realise the penetrating
management of leading hospitals over medical institutions in
the region in terms of human resources, finances, disciplines,
operations, patient services, EHSQ, information technology,
and so on. Thirdly, we will accelerate the construction of
“one hospital, one speciality” for secondary and primary
hospitals, and build specialities and special services that are
appropriate according to the hospital’s strengths and patients’
needs. Fourthly, we will continue to strengthen the brain
speciality, continue to play a leading role in Guangzhou 999
Brain Hospital, promote the construction of brain hospitals
in Guangxi regional, and further export the capacity of the
discipline in South China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly generated
revenue from the following operations: (1) Hospital
operations; and (2) Other business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved revenue
of RMB10.108 billion, an increase of 27.9% over the same
period last year. Among them, the realized revenue of LH
Subjects and JE Subject was RMB4.096 billion.

(1) Hospital business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of hospital
business was RMB9,406 million, representing a year
on-year increase of 33.4%. Among them: (1) the
revenue of the LH Subjects and JE Subject during the
Reporting Period was 4.096 billion; and (2) the revenue
of Stock Hospitals was RMB5.310 billion during the
Reporting Period, representing a yearon-year increase
of 11.2%. The growth was mainly due to an increase in
the number of visits and improved bed utilization.

(2) Other business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of other
business was RMB701 million, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 17.3%.

Gross profit and gross margin

During the Reporting Period, the Group's gross profit
increased by 45.9% year-on-year to RMB1.906 billion, with a
gross profit margin of 18.9%. Among them, the gross profit
of LH Subjects and JE Subject totaled RMB765 million, and
the gross profit of other stock hospitals totaled RMB1.14
billion, an increase of 174%. The improvement of gross
profit margin was mainly due to the significant effect of cost
structure adjustment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERE D

Administrative expenditure

During the Reporting Period, the Group's administrative
expenses totaled RMB971 million, an increase of 20.0%, of
which the administrative expenses of the existing business
increased by 3.3% vyearon-year, lower than the growth rate
of revenue, due to the effectiveness of expense control
measures.

Impairment

(i)  Provision for impairment losses on goodwill,
property, plant and equipment, and right of use
assets

Goodwill was allocated to respective cash-generating
unit (the "CGU") groups. According to IAS 36 —
Impairment of Assets, impairment test is performed
by management on respective CGU groups to which
goodwill has been allocated at least annually by
comparing the carrying value with the recoverable
amount of the CGU groups, which is the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. During
the Reporting Period, the revenue of Huaiyin Hospital
decreased by more than 60% year-on-year, and has
declined significantly for two consecutive years. Despite
the Group's implementation of a series of measures
such as talent recruitment, business transformation and
organizational remodeling, in 2023, the performance
of Huaiyin Hospital has not turned around significantly,
and its operating loss exceeded RMB30 million. An
external appraiser has conducted an impairment test
on this CGU groups. The fair value of the CGU including
goodwill is determined based on individual asset/liability
items and the key assumption is the estimated price per
square meter of building of approximately RMB2,700.
As at December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of the
CGU was RMB632 million, and its recoverable amount
was RMB246 million. During the Reporting Period, the
impairment on goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounted to RMB141 million,
RMB209 million and RMB2 million, respectively. The
relevant amounts have been included in the impairment
loss on goodwill, the impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment and the impairment loss on right-of-use
assets of the Group, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(ii)  Provision for impairment losses on financial and
contract assets

As at December 31, 2022, the remaining balance of the
carrying amount of government service fee receivable
of Huaiyin Hospital was RMB73 million, and the loan
receivable of Huaiyin District City Asset Management
Co., Ltd. was RMB41 million. During the Reporting
Period, the relevant parties had no clear payment plans,
and the Group has made related impairment of RMB114
million, which has been included in the impairment
losses on financial and contract assets, net of the
Group. The above impairment assessment was prepared
on an expected credit loss basis in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 9. The relevant disclosure and
presentation, recognition and measurement have also
complied with the requirements of IFRS 9.

During the Reporting Period, the Impairment losses
related to Huaiyin Hospital reduced the profit before tax
of the Group by RMB466 million and the net profit of
the Group by RMB447 million,respectively.

Income tax

During the Reporting Period, the Group's income tax expense
was RMB165 million, an increase of 74.3% year-on-year,
mainly due to the increase in profit.

Net profit

During the Reporting Period, the Group's net profit was
RMB328 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
0.1%. Among them, Huaiyin Hospital's one-time impairment
reduced the net profit by RMB447 million for the Reporting
Period and Huaiyin Hospital's one-time impairment reduced
the net profit by RMB153 million during the same period
last year. For reference purpose, had the aforesaid one-time
impairment been excluded in both years, the net profit of the
Group would have increased by 61%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERE D

Liquidity and Financing

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to maintain
a solid and healthy financial position. The Group funds its
operations principally from cash generated from its operations
and also bank facilities. Its cash needs relate primarily to
operating activities, business expansion, repayment of
liabilities as they become due, capital expenditures, interest
and dividend payments.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s consolidated bank
balances and cash, certificate of deposit and bank financial
products amounted to approximately RMB1.28 billion in total
(December 31, 2022 (as restated): approximately RMB3.97
billion) which were primarily in RMB.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group has obtained offshore
revolving term loan facility of HK$3.7 billion (or its equivalent
in U.S. dollar or Renminbi). It is of the term of one year which
shall be automatically renewed if the relevant bank does not
notify otherwise. In addition, the Group has also obtained from
banks in mainland facilities of RMB5.27 billion. As at December
31, 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of RMB2.16 billion
among them, RMB2.12 billion of interest-bearing bank loans
and RMB40 million of financial discount bank loans. (December
31, 2022 (as restated): HK$2.234 billion and RMB333 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB2.328 billion in total) among
them, RMB2.29 billion of interest-bearing bank loans and
RMB35 million of financial discount bank loans). And unutilized
bank facilities of HK$2.6 billion and RMB4.1 billion (equivalent
to approximately RMB6.46 billion). As at December 31, 2023,
the Group has higher current liabilities than current assets,
mainly due to payments made by the Group during the
Reporting Period for the acquisitions of LH Subject Equity, JE
Subject Equity and JE Subject Debts. The unused bank facilities
currently available to the Company are sufficient to repay the
related current liabilities. As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s
offshore bank borrowings carried interests at floating rates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at December 31, 2023, on the basis of interest-bearing
liabilities divided by total assets, the Group’s gearing ratio was
15.8% (December 31, 2022 (as restated): 13.1%). In addition,
the carrying value of each of our wealth management products
as at December 31, 2023 did not exceed 5% of the Group's
total asset value.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates
and Other Risks

The Group undertakes certain operating transactions in foreign
currencies, which exposes the Group to foreign currency risk,
mainly pertaining to the risk of fluctuations in the Hong Kong
dollar and U.S. dollar against RMB.

The Company has accordingly completed the conversion of
foreign currency loans into offshore RMB loans.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk. The management
manages the currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates and considers hedging
against significant foreign exchange exposure should such
need arise.

The Group is also exposed to risk of talent shortage, so we
have been taking an active approach to attract, train and retain
sufficient qualified doctors, management personnel and other
medical staff members, otherwise the business of hospitals
affiliated to the Group would be affected to some degree.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Employees and Remuneration Policy” of this
report for those measures mentioned above.

The Group also recognise that our relationship with patients
and partners is key to the resilient development of the Group.
We strive to provide qualified services and medical staffs
with extensive experiences to our patients. By leveraging on
sophisticated medical skills and equipment, we try our best
to cater to our patients’ needs for medical treatments. We
also cooperate with our partners to achieve the sustainable
development of our business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERE D

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities or guarantees that would have a material
impact on the financial position or operations of the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any material
pledge of assets.

Subsequent Event(s)

The Group had no other significant subsequent events
occurred after December 31, 2023 which would have material
impact on the performance and the value of the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of 20,172
fulltime employees (December 31, 2022 (restated): 20,622
employees). For FY2023, the staff cost (including Directors’
remuneration in the form of salaries and other benefits) was
approximately RMB3,406 million (FY2022 (restated): RMB2,635
million).

The Group ensured that the remuneration packages of
employees remain competitive and the remuneration level of
its employees was determined on the basis of performance
with reference to the profitability of the Group, industry
remuneration standards and market conditions within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration system. The
Group has also adopted the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Scheme so as to provide incentives or rewards
to eligible participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government
(together with the MPF Scheme, the "Defined Contribution
Schemes”). These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest fully
and immediately with the employees when contributed into
the schemes. Accordingly, (i) for each of the two years ended
December 31, 2023, there was no forfeiture of contributions
under the Defined Contribution Schemes; and (ii) there were
no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce
its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at December 31, 2023.

Other Information

For the latest developments of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement
Dispute, please refer to the paragraph headed “Yan Hua 10T
Agreement Dispute” under the section “Directors’ Report” to
this report.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is mainly engaged in (i) provision of general healthcare
services; (ii) provision of hospital management services,
and sale of pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical
consumables and provision of other hospital ancillary
services to such hospitals in Chinese Mainland. Details of the
principal activities of the Company's principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

A fair review of the business of the Group and a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties being faced by
the Group, as well as the business outlook of the Group
(including key performance indicators of future development
of the Group) are provided in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 8 to 25 of this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance for
the year ended December 31, 2023 and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are provided in
the paragraph headed “Business Review" under the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
10 to 13, in the paragraph headed “Financial Data” under
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 14 to 17 and in the paragraph headed “Financial
Review" under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

Significant events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, if any, are set out in the paragraph
headed “Subsequent Events” on page 24 of this annual
report.

Relevant discussion set out in this annual report as
mentioned above forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group recognizes
the importance of good environmental stewardship. In this
connection, the Group has strictly adopted and implemented
policies and procedures to conduct environmental protection
work on a standard which is not less stringent than the
prevailing environmental laws and regulations of the PRC.
We believe that we were in compliance with all relevant PRC
laws and regulations regarding environmental protection in
all material respects during the year ended December 31,
2023 and as at the date of this Directors’ Report. No material
environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management.

The Group has formulated the “Hazardous Substances Safety
Management Plan” and the “Medical Waste Management
System” (BBEEYEEHIE) for all hospitals according
to the relevant requirements of the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People's Republic of China” The
above systems focus on the management of hazardous
substances (containing hazardous chemicals and medical
waste), including storage location, container labelling,
protection, leakage handling and disposal in use. Hospitals
conduct supervisions and inspections mainly on storage
and labelling on hazardous chemicals and conclude the
analysis results on a quarterly basis. As required by the
“Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China’
Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic
of China and Supervision and Management Measures
on Energy Conservation and Ecological Environmental
Protection of Central Enterprises (MR EELIFER
HERIRIBEREGESENE), the Group formulated
the “"Energy Conservation, Emission Reduction and
Environmental Protection Management System’, which
focuses on guiding and supervising hospitals to implement
their main responsibilities, standardizing the management
of energy conservation and eco-environmental protection,
and promoting the green and high-quality development of
hospitals. The Group monitors the outcome of such policies
upon their implementation, so as to ensure the effective
implementation of the above policies.
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Meanwhile, the Group has formulated the “Ultilities Safety
Management Plan’, “Safety and Protection Management
Plan” and “Medical Technology Safety Management Plan’
and passed the "Facility Safety Management Plan” to
ensure the effective implementation of the above plans. The
Group has formulated the “Radiation Safety Management
Plan” and “Radiation Emergency Plan” which focuses on
the management of radiation safety and specifies the
requirements on all radiation equipment, protection and
radiation-related waste treatment. Every year, qualified
testing and rating agencies are engaged to monitor the
radiation level of all radiological equipment and workplaces
in the hospitals. Moreover, the hospitals carry out drills
against contingencies and evaluate and conclude the
responsiveness.

The Company's environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the same day as this report, which
contains details of the Group's environmental, social and
governance measures.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief as at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders
including our Substantial Shareholders, employees, patients,
customers, suppliers, business partners and the community.

An account of the Group's relationship with its Substantial
Shareholders is included in the “Interests of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and Underlying
Shares” set out on pages 46 to 47 of this annual report.
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The Group considers its employees as the key to
sustainable business growth. We are committed to
providing all employees a safe and harassment-free
working environment with equal opportunities in relation
to employment, remuneration management, training and
career development. This commitment is incorporated in
our Corporate Responsibility Policy and Employment Policy.
Workplace safety is a priority of the Group that, with due
awareness of all employees throughout the year, the Group
was able to maintain a high standard of health and safety
measures in all company activities. We have in place a fair
and effective performance appraisal system and incentive
bonus schemes that are designed to motivate and reward
employees at all levels, which helps to deliver their best
performance and achieve business performance targets. For
talent acquisition and continuous development, the Group
offers training programs as well as leadership and talent
development programs for talents with different academic
backgrounds. The Group believes that direct and effective
communication is essential for good partnership built-up
between management and employees. The Group holds
regular meetings and forums to brief employees on Company
developments and obtain their feedbacks and suggestions.

As a patient-oriented healthcare services provider, we
consider patients as one of the most important stakeholders.
We are committed to serving our patients to the best of
our ability and continually enhancing the level of service
excellence. The Group has embraced new media platforms
as an effective communication channel with our patients
to collect feedbacks and help us identify areas for further
improvement.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest ethical
and professional standards when dealing with suppliers
and contractors. To integrate CSR principles throughout
our group purchasing organization business, the Group has
implemented the Group Purchasing Policy and Principles, and
a Supplier Code of Conduct to facilitate a common means
whereby we can better communicate with our business
partners regarding their compliance with local regulations
governing labor, health and safety, and the environment.
In order to have a better and close monitoring of supplier
performance, our procurement department conduct
supplier performance review annually targeting our major
suppliers and contractors, and will communicate with the
suppliers that have unsatisfactory rating for rectification or
improvements.
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Results and Final Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on pages 118 to 119 of this annual report.

The Board proposes to pay a final dividend of RMB6 cents
per Share for FY2023 (“2023 Final Dividend”) (FY2022:
final dividend equivalent to approximately RMB3.3 cents per
Share). The proposed 2023 Final Dividend will be payable
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, June 14, 2024. Based
on the number of Shares in issue of the Company as of
December 31, 2023, the total amount of 2023 Final Dividend
is approximately RMB77.80 million. Subject to the approval
by Shareholders at the annual general meeting to be held
on Wednesday, June 5, 2024, it is expected that the 2023
Final Dividend will be distributed on or before Friday, July
19, 2024. The 2023 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to
each Shareholder in HK$ at the average benchmark exchange
rate of RMB to HK$ as published by the People's Bank of
China during the five business days ending on Wednesday,
June 5, 2024 (inclusive), being the date of the annual general
meeting, unless an election is made to receive the same
in RMB. Shareholders will be given the option to elect to
receive all (but not part) of the 2023 Final Dividend in RMB.
To make such election, Shareholders should complete the
Dividend Currency Election Form, which is expected to be
despatched to Shareholders in late June 2024 as soon as
practicable after the record date of Friday, June 14, 2024
to determine Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
2023 Final Dividend, and return it to the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, July 10, 2024. Shareholders who
are minded to elect to receive all (but not part) of the 2023
Final Dividend in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they
should ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to
which the RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for
payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques
can be cleared without material handling charges or delay
in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The cheques
are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on Friday, July 19, 2024 at the Shareholders'
own risk.
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The Group is not aware of any arrangement under which a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Dividend Policy

According to the dividend policy of the Group, subject to
compliance with applicable rules and regulations (including
Cayman Islands laws) and the Articles of Association, the
Company will pay dividend to the Shareholders when the
Group recorded net profit during the period and payment of
dividend would not affect its normal operation. The Company
intends to share its profits with Shareholders in the form of
annual dividend and the remaining net profits will be used for
the Group's development and operations.

The Company's ability to pay dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the general financial condition of the
Group, the Group's current and future operations, liquidity
position and capital requirement of the Group as well as
dividends received from the Company's subsidiaries. The
payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Cayman lIslands laws and the
Articles of Association.

The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed from time
to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 123 to
124 of this annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders
subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution or
dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

As at December 31, 2023, the Company's share premium
amounted to RMB5,572,218,000 (as at December 31, 2022:
RMB5,614,571,000), subject to a solvency test, is available
for distribution to the Shareholders.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 278 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Borrowings

Details of the borrowings of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’
Report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended December 31,
2023.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended December 31, 2023, sales to the
Group's five largest customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 6.5% (2022 (as restated): 2.9%) of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 3.0% (2022 (as restated): 1.2%)
of the total sales.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 15.7% (2022
(as restated): 17.4%) of the total purchases for the year
and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 4.6% (2022 (as restated): 5.4%) of the total
purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors
nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital), had any direct or indirect interest in the five largest
customers or the five largest suppliers of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provides that every Director
should be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him/her as a Director, in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her
favor, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance
policy against potential legal liabilities and related expenses
that may be incurred by the Directors in the event of any
litigation.
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Directors

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023 and
up to the date of this Directors’ Report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman)
Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on February 27 2023)
Mr. SHAN Baojie (Vice President)
Ms. YANG Min (Chief Financial Officer)
(Appointed on June 13, 2023)
Mr. CHENG Libing (Resigned on February 27 2023)
Ms. REN Yuan (Resigned on June 13, 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. GE Lu (Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. HU Hui (Resigned on September 14, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony

Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong

Mr. FU Tingmei (Appointed on February 27, 2023)

Mr. ZHOU Peng (Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. LEE Kar Chung Felix (Resigned on June 13, 2023)

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Biographical Details of the Directors and
Senior Management and Disclosure of
Information of Directors Pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 101
to 109 of this annual report. Save as disclosed, there are no
other changes to the Directors’ information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Each of the service agreements/letters of appointment of
the Directors can be terminated by either party giving to the
other party not less than one month notice in writing.
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Pursuant to the letters of appointment, each of Mr. Wu Ting
Yuk Anthony, Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong, Mr. Lee Kar Chung
Felix, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhou Peng is entitled to an
annual director’s fee of HK$300,000. Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix
has resigned as independent non-executive Director on June
13, 2023 and received the annual directors fee on a pro rata
basis.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into or
intends to enter into a service contract with any member of
our Group which is not terminable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (other than the
statutory compensation).

Remuneration of the Directors and Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals in the Group and remuneration
payable to members of senior management by band are
set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

The remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management is subject to review of the Remuneration
Committee and approval by the Board, such remuneration is
determined by taking into account of the relevant individual's
experience, responsibilities, workload and time commitment
to the Group and the operating results of the Group and
comparable market statistics.
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Independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received annual independence
confirmation from all independent non-executive Directors
and confirms that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent and the conditions pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules have been fulfilled.

Director’s Interests in Competing Businesses

Mr. Song Qing is a director and the chairman of the board
of CR Healthcare (the controlling shareholder of the
Company); Mr. Yu Hai is a director, vice chairman and the
general manager of CR Healthcare; Mr. Shan Baojie is the
vice general manager of CR Healthcare; Ms. Yang Min is
the chief financial officer of CR Healthcare; and Ms. Ge
Lu is an external director of CR Healthcare. CR Healthcare
specializes in health industry investment and operation
management, is one of the key health service industry
platform of China Resources Group. CR Healthcare is
committed to the long-term development of China's medical
and healthcare services, actively participates in China’s
medical system reform, and proactively explores and involves
in the investment, operation and management of hospitals
and healthcare industries in the PRC. In addition to being the
single largest shareholder of the Company, CR Healthcare
also operates and manages a number of medical institutions
in certain provinces of China.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as of December
31, 2023, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business
of the Group.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests

and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or its
Associated Corporations

As of December 31, 2023, the interests/short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are deemed or taken to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be entered into the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO;
or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares of the Company

Capacity/
Name of Director Nature of interest

Long position/
short position

EXNUA

515,/ EatE

we %A

Song Qing Beneficial owner Long position (Note)

KRB BHERA Fa (fsh)

Ge Lu Beneficial owner Long position

B EmERAA 5=

Wu Ting Yuk, Beneficial owner Long position (Note)
Anthony

HATE N8 EmERAA e (Fish)

Note: This includes also the long positions of the Award Shares, which have been
declared to be granted by the Company to the corresponding Directors on
August 31, 2018 and which has been vested.

Long Positions in Shares of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR
Beer”), an Associated Corporation of the
Company:

Capacity/ Long position/
Name of Director Nature of interest short position
= 510/ =t s Y= 9=
Ge Lu Beneficial owner Long position
B BHEREA S,
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, none
of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

The Company has conditionally adopted the Share Option
Scheme as of September 30, 2013. Such scheme has expired
on September 29, 2023.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
incentivize or reward the Eligible Participants (defined
below) for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

2. Eligible Participants

Subject to and in accordance with the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules,
the Board may grant options to any full-time or part-
time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries at its sole discretion and any suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in
the absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed
or will contribute to our Group (collectively “Eligible
Participants”).
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Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from September 30, 2013, after
which time no further option will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force, and effective in all other respects to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted prior thereto and other rights as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme and options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not,
in aggregate, exceed 83,376,300 Shares, being 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the Listing Date (with the overallotment option fully
exercised). As the Share Option Scheme has expired on
September 29, 2023, no options can be granted and no
shares can be issued under the Share Option Scheme
thereafter.

The number of options available for grant under the
scheme mandate of the Share Option Scheme at the
beginning of the Reporting Period is 83,376,300.

Maximum entitlement of each
participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to any grantee
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant, shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue.
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Offer period and amount payable for
options

An offer of a grant shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Participant for a period of 14 days
from the date of offer, provided that no such offer
shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
effective period of the Share Option Scheme. An option
shall be deemed as has been granted to (subject to
certain restrictions in the Share Option Scheme), and
accepted by, the Eligible Participant (the “Grantee”)
and taken effect upon the issuance of an exercise
notice, if the Company receives a copy of the offer
document (including the document for the acceptance
of share option) duly signed by the grantee (the “Offer
Document”), together with a remittance in favor of our
Company in the amount of HK$1.00 in consideration
for the granting of the option on or before the last date
for acceptance. The remittance is not refundable under
any circumstances and shall be deemed as payment of
part of the exercise price. Once accepted, the option is
taken as granted from the date of offer to the relevant
Grantee.

Minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

There is no general requirement that an option must be
held for any minimum period before it can be exercised.
The period during which an option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Option Period”) shall be the period of
time to be notified by our Board to each Grantee as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save
that such period shall not exceed 10 years from the
commencement date of the vesting period as stated in
the respective Grantee's Offer Document.
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8. Basis of determining the subscription
price

The price per share for subscription by a Grantee
pursuant to the exercise of share options (the
"Exercise Price"”) shall be determined by the Board, but
in any event shall not be lower than the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets on
the date an option is offered (the “Offer Date");

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(iii)  the nominal value of the Shares.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, and
during the year ended December 31, 2023, no share option
had been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed
and there is no outstanding share option under the Share
Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme has expired on
September 29, 2023.

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme as
a means to recognise the contribution of and provide
incentives for the key management personnel including
Directors and senior management, employed experts and
core employees of the Group. The Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from July 7 2014 (the “Adoption Date”) on which the Board
adopted the Share Award Scheme and is administrated by
the Board and the trustee of the Share Award Scheme.
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In order to provide more flexibility in the administration and
implementation of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
resolved on May 25, 2015 to make amendments to the
terms of the Share Award Scheme and the scheme rules,
having retrospective effect from the Adoption Date, to the
effect that the Board may, from time to time, in its absolute
discretion, determine if the Award Shares shall be granted
to a Selected Participant with or without payment of a price
per Award Share payable by the Selected Participant (the
“Grant Price”) which shall be notified by the Board to each
Selected Participant. In determining whether the Selected
Participant shall pay a Grant Price for the Award Shares and
the amount of the Grant Price, as the case may be, the Board
shall take into consideration matters, including but not limited
to the Selected Participant’s position, experience, years of
service, performance and contribution to the Company, its
subsidiaries and/or associated entities. The Grant Price shall
be settled according to the payment schedule determined by
the Board.

The Board also resolved on August 31, 2018 to make further
amendments to the terms of the Share Award Scheme to
the effect that the maximum number of the Award Shares,
which have been and to be awarded by the Board throughout
the duration of the scheme, to be revised to 5% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company as at the date
of the abovementioned resolution (i.e. 64,833,825 Shares),
representing approximately 5.00% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this annual report, and
the maximum number of the Award Shares to each of the
Selected Participants to be revised to 1% of the total number
of issued Shares as at the date of the abovementioned
resolution (i.e. 12,966,765 Shares).

There are no provisions in the scheme rules of the Share
Award Scheme in relation to the amount payable on
acquisition of the Award Shares thereunder and the period
within which payments or calls must or may be made or
loans for such purposes must be repaid, which would all
be determined by the Board when the Award Shares were
granted.

The Board will implement the Share Award Scheme in
accordance with the scheme rules. Pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme, the Board may from time to time while
the scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions and vesting
periods. The Company shall comply with the relevant Listing
Rules when granting the Award Shares.
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Since the Adoption Date of Share Award Scheme and up
to December 31, 2023, an aggregate of 32,212,216 Award
Shares have been granted pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme subject to certain vesting criteria and conditions. No
Award Shares were granted under the Share Award Scheme
within FY2023. Details of the interests of the Selected
Participants in the Award Shares are as follows:

Number of ~ Unvested asat ~ Vested during
Award Shares  January 1, 2023 FY2023

EZE2023F 120235
1B1HAXEE HBEERE
Name of Director B4
Song Qing RE 400,000 - -
Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony HER 1,500,000 = =
Cheng Libing (resigned on AL (B742023%F 400,000 - -
February 27 2023) 2827HEHT)
Ren Yuan (resigned on June E32 (B1*2023%F 300,000 = =
13, 2023) 65130 8)
5 highest paid individuals 72023 BAEUEER 1,260,000 = =
during FY2023 BENRSNLY
(excluding any Directors) AN (REEER
in aggregate £3) (58

Other grantees in aggregate EHER A (54) 15,959,800 = =
Notes:

1. The Award Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme as set out in the
above table (the "Relevant Award Shares”) were approved by the Board
on August 31, 2018 and were granted pursuant to the relevant agreements
that came into effect in May 2019.

2. 50% of the Relevant Award Shares were acquired by the Selected
Participants at HK$5.27 per Share (which have already been settled
pursuant to respective agreement), and the remaining 50% were granted
by the Company to the Selected Participants at zero consideration.

3. The Relevant Award Shares were vested during the period from FY2020
to FY2022. The first batch of Award Shares were vested on the date when
the relevant annual assessment of year 2019 was completed, the second
batch of Award Shares where vested on the date when the relevant annual
assessment of year 2020 was completed, and the remaining portion of
Award Shares (i.e. the third batch) were vested on the date when the
relevant annual assessment of year 2021 was completed.

4. Upon vesting of the Relevant Award Shares, such Award Shares shall
become wholly beneficially owned by the relevant Selected Participants
without requiring any of them to exercise such Award Shares. As such, no
exercise period is applicable to the unvested Relevant Award Shares under
the Share Award Scheme.

The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately 2 months as at the date of this annual report.
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Number of Award Shares

RERHHE
Closing price of
Award Shares
immediately
before the
Unvested as at  relevant vesting
Cancelled during ~ Lapsed during ~ December 31,  date during FY
FY2023 FY2023 2023 2023 (HK$)
2023
MEEEER
BZE2023F HEBHFRE
1820236 120235 128318 RONKHE
MBEERE HHEEXY FEE (B7)

- - - N/A
— — — N/A
— - — N/A

- - - N/A

- - - N/A
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders and
Other Persons in Shares and Underlying
Shares

As of December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
or were deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares which would
fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO and entered into the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or
who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of
the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of Shareholder

RERTE

Interest of a controlled
corporation

REEE#ED

China Resources Company
Limited
FEZEEBRAS

Mitsubishi URJ Financial Interest of a controlled

Group, Inc. corporation
—EHHMETMER RELEED

L: Long position

Notes:

1. (1) 463,681,516 of these shares are directly held by CRH (Medical) Limited.
CRH (Medical) Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Healthcare
Group Limited. China Resources Healthcare Group Limited is wholly owned
by CRH (Healthcare) Limited. CRH (Healthcare) Limited is wholly owned by
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is wholly owned by CRC Bluesky Limited. CRC Bluesky
Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Inc., which is wholly owned
by China Resources Company Limited; and (2) 10,638,000 of these shares
are directly held by Commotra Company Limited which is wholly owned by
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

2. Mitsubishi URJ Financial Group, Inc. is the sole shareholder of Mitsubishi
URJ Trust and Banking Corporation whilst the latter is directly holding the
entire shareholding interest in First Sentier Investors Holdings Pty Limited.
First Sentier Investors Holdings Pty Limited (via its wholly-owned subsidiary
First Sentier Investors Asia Holdings Limited) held the entire interest in
First Sentier Investors (Hong Kong) Limited and the latter directly held
65,224,166 Shares (representing approximately 5.03% of the issued shares
of the Company).

Capacity/Nature of interest

55/ eatd

FERRREMATRERB K
MERARR (D 2 a

72023F12B31H U AL (RBIEEAR
BAEFEMERSITHAEL) RIRMD AR,
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B MR BRRAABIREE S RPERGSE
EREFE B MAZ R K, Tk
B NEERRMEBEEEARATBEETRAF
5%a I EBIRER o

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held shareholding
RERNEBE FRENBEDL
%

474,319,516(L)" 36.58
65,224,166(L)? 5.03

=
B 5T
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, the
Directors were not aware of any person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or a short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as the details as set out in the paragraphs headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives'
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or its Associated Corporations’| “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”
Report, at no time during the year ended December 31,
2023 has any right to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate been granted to Directors or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18, and none
of any such right has been exercised by them; and none of
the Company and any of its subsidiaries has been a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18, to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

Interests and Short

in this Directors’

The Acquisitions of LH Subject Equity,
JE Subject Equity and JE Subject Debts

On February 22, 2023, CR Hospital Investment (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) (as transferee) entered
into the Equity Transfer Agreement | with LR Management
(as transferor), pursuant to which LR Management has
conditionally agreed to sell and CR Hospital Investment
has conditionally agreed to purchase 76.10% equity
interests in Liaoning CR Healthcare and 100% equity
interests in Shenzhen CR Healthcare at a consideration of
RMB3,394,607,000, which was settled in cash. As at the
date of this report, Liaoning CR Healthcare holds one wholly-
owned subsidiary and indirectly holds the sponsorship rights
of 31 LH Member Institutions.
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CR Hospital Investment (as transferee) also entered into the
Equity and Debt Transfer Agreement Il with CR Technology
(as transferor) of even date, pursuant to which CR Technology
has conditionally agreed to sell and CR Hospital Investment
has conditionally agreed to purchase 80% equity interests in
the JE Subject at a consideration of RMB244,536,000 and to
purchase the debts owed by the JE Subject to CR Technology
(the principal balance amounted to RMB316,944,600 as
at December 31, 2022), which was settled in cash. As at
the date of this report, the JE Subject directly holds the
sponsorship rights of six JE Member Medical Institutions.

The equity transfers of the aforesaid transactions have
been completed by the end of June 2023. The Company
confirms that according to the IFRS Accounting Standards
and the accounting policies of the Group, the Group has
retrospectively consolidated the financial results of the LH
Subjects and the JE Subject from June 2, 2022 (the date
on which the Group, the LH Subjects and the JE Subject
started to come under common control). The comparative
figures of the Group's FY2022 financial statements has been
restated, that is, the financial results of the LH Subjects and
the JE Subject from June 2, 2022 have been included in the
Comparative Figures. The Group's FY2023 financial results
include the financial results of the LH Subjects and the JE
Subject starting from January 1, 2023.

Each of LR Management and CR Technology is indirectly
wholly owned by CR Healthcare, and CR Healthcare is
indirectly wholly owned by CRH, a controlling shareholder
of the Company. Therefore, both LR Management and CR
Technology are the connected persons of the Company.

Further details of the aforesaid transactions and
the accounting arrangement could be found in the
announcements of the Company dated February 22, 2023,
May 17 2023 and June 30, 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated April 27, 2023.

From June 25, 2023, the transactions between Liaoning
CR Healthcare Group and the connected persons of the
Company, and the transactions between JE Subject Group
and the connected persons of the Company constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company.
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Connected Transactions at Subsidiary Level MEBAREBEZHAERS — AR
- Certain Rental Arrangements with the HRHEENZEEEZH
Wugang Group

On September 25, 2023, the Wugang Group (as the lessor) 2202398250 » RINER (fEA EHE )
entered into three rental agreements with Wugang Hospital EHIHERERE T B RIDQZFr RIS
and Wugang No.2 Staff Hospital (as the lessees) under the BT 5Bz (BEAAMA) DAL TH
Wugang Hospital Group, pursuant to which the lessees shall M ERZ  EILEARSHBAZSHEEEK
lease certain medical buildings and ancillary buildings with 18K B EEY) > 4272 LI 4135,963.38
a total construction area of 135,963.38 square meters fora FHXK > HEFERHARE - BRAGENE
lease period of five years. Major terms of such agreements E{EFITF :

are as follows:

Initial amount
of right-of-use
Lease Term to be recognized
(From the in the statement
Address of Relevant Construction  lease inception Rent and deposit of assets and
Lessee Properties Lease Purposes Area  date) arrangement liabilities
BEAERA
THEHR APl ]
EEA LiEl kY E Sk HERR BEEE (EHAEH) RERFEE2H BRESH
(Sg. m.) (RMB) (RMB)
(FAR) (AE®) (AE#)
Agreement | Wugang Hospital Within the area of Medical buildings 79,04748 1st Lease Year: 52,467645.34
Wugang Hospital, and ancillary 11,513,528.00 p.a.
Yejin Avenue, buildings 2nd Lease Year:
Wuhan City, Hubei 11,628,663.28 p.a.
Province 3rd Lease Year:

11,744,949.91 p.a.
4th Lease Year:
11,862,399.41 p.a.
5th Lease Year:
11,981,023.40 p.a.

Deposit not required

B RIBEER MEERED A BEAER E—E:REE:
ABREBERRR i BEEY 11,513,528.00/F
ER EENREE:

11,628,663.28/F
E-EHAEE:
11,744,949.91/F
EMEREE
11,862,399.41/F
ERENREE:
11,981,023.40/F

ERETRH

EMBRIRAERAT “SCSEERS 49



50

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERS

Address of Relevant

Lessee Properties

ik E R

Gl

Agreement Il Wugang Hospital No. 5-2, Kang Yuan,
Yejin Avenue,
Qingshan District,
Wuhan City,

Hubei Province

HIbRERED
BUBAEAE
FREb5%2

1382 RiBRER

Within the area of

Wugang No.2 Staff
Hospital as located
at Qingwang Road,
Qingshan District,

Wuhan City, Hubei
Province

Agreement Il Wugang No.2 Staff

Hospital

ALEREBEL
BETRRAE -
RIERRER

1353 REE-BT
1

Lease Purposes

RERR

Office building of
Wugang Hospital

iNElS

Medical buildings and
ancillary buildings

BRABRNER

Total Construction
Area (Sg. m.)

REERAH
(B5%)

Construction

Area

BEEE

5,800.89

51,115.01

135,963.38

Lease Term
(From the
lease inception
date)

HEHR

(LR HES)

(Sq. m.)

(FEARK)

From July 1, 2023
to June 30, 2028
(5 Lease Years)

202357818
F20284F
6A308
(HoEEERE)
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Rent and deposit
arrangement

HERREEZH
(RMB)

(AEH)

1st Lease Period:

1,408,300.00 p.a.

2nd Lease Period:
1,422,256.63 p.a.

3rd Lease Period:
1,436,587.23 p.a.

4th Lease Period:
1,450,831.86 p.a.

5th Lease Period:
1,465,370.51 p.a.

Deposit not required

E—EREE:
1,408,300.00/F
BEHREE:
1,422,256.63/F
B=EREE:
1,436,587.23/F
EMEAEE
1,450,831.86/4F
EREHAEE
1,465,370.51/F

BRESEZH

1st Lease Period:
4,198,800.00 p.a.
2nd Lease Period:
4,240,788.00 p.a.
3rd Lease Period:
4,283,195.88 p.a.
4th Lease Period:
4,326,02784 p.a.
5th Lease Period:
4,369,288.12 p.a.

Deposit not required

E—EREE:
4,198,800.00/4
BEHREE:
4,240,788.00/F
B=EREE:
4,283,195.88/4F
EMEAEEE
4,326,02784/F
EREHAEE .
4,369,288.12/4F

BRESEH

Initial amount of right-
of-use to be recognized

in the statement of
assets and liabilities
(RMB)
BEABARARIZ
MiaEREESE
NE®)

Initial amount

of right-of-use
to0 be recognized
in the statement
of assets and
liabilities

6,41733717

19,134,113.26

78,019,095.77



As at the date of aforesaid agreements, the Wugang Group
is a substantial shareholder of CR Wugang, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, which does not fall within
the ambit of insignificant subsidiaries under Rule 14A.09
of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Wugang Group is a
connected person of the Company at its subsidiary level and
the aforesaid transactions constituted connected transactions
of the Company. Wugang Hospital and Wugang No.2 Staff
Hospital are sponsored hospitals wholly-owned by CR
Wugang.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
September 25, 2023 for further details of the aforesaid
transactions.

Continuing Connected Transactions
A.1 CR PMM Framework Agreement

The Company and CRH entered into the new
pharmaceuticals, medical device and medical
consumables supply framework agreement on
November 18, 2022 (the “2022 CR PMM Framework
Agreement”), for a fixed term of three years
commencing from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2025, whereby the annual caps are also renewed
thereupon. The 2022 CR PMM Framework Agreement
and the proposed annual caps for the 2022 CR
PMM Framework Agreement were approved at the
extraordinary general meeting on December 29, 2022.
The annual caps for the purchase of PMM items under
the 2022 CR PMM Framework Agreement for the
three financial years ending December 31, 2025 are
RMBO0.90 billion, RMB1.10 billion and RMB1.20 billion,
respectively.

CRH is a controlling shareholder and a connected
person of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount
of the purchase orders under the 2022 CR PMM
Framework Agreement paid/payable by the Group was
RMB871 million.
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A.2 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement and CR

Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement

The Company and CR Bank entered into the new
strategic cooperation agreement on November 18,
2022 (the “2022 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation
Agreement”), for a fixed term of three years
commencing from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2025, whereby the annual caps are also renewed
thereupon. The 2022 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation
Agreement and the proposed annual caps for the
2022 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement were
approved at the extraordinary general meeting on
December 29, 2022.

The Company and CR Trust entered into the new
strategic cooperation agreement on November 18,
2022 (the “2022 CR Trust Strategic Cooperation
Agreement”), for a fixed term of three years
commencing from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2025, whereby the annual caps are also renewed
thereupon. The 2022 CR Trust Strategic Cooperation
Agreement and the proposed annual caps for the
2022 CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement were
approved at the extraordinary general meeting on
December 29, 2022.
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The annual caps under 2022 CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement and 2022 CR Trust Strategic
Cooperation Agreement for the three financial years
ended December 31, 2023 were set out as follows:

B E2023F

N )

BRI ERRENER
BEEREE
(BERUSRIE) @

Maximum daily deposit
amount placed with CR
Bank (inclusive of interest
receivable) Note)

BREBRTRERRET
T LR B S RE M
NeERREFEEEK
Flg®

Maximum daily principal
amount and interest in
relation to financial
products to be provided
by CR Bank and CR
Trust (Note)

Maximum service fees and ZE B IR1T KR E B (S T#
commissions for other F LR R E &R
financial products and ERkBRENRS
services to be provided IREERAS
by CR Bank and CR Trust

Note: The above maximum daily deposit amount or daily principal amount
and interest is applicable for each day during the relevant period,
and is calculated on an individual basis remaining as of the end of
each day, without aggregating the amount incurred on the days
before.

In 2023, the actual highest amount of the Group
daily deposit balance (inclusive of interest receivable)
and daily principal amount and interest in relation to
financial products provided by CR Bank amounted to
RMB336 million and RMBO, respectively. In 2023,
the service fees and commissions for other financial
products and services provided by CR Bank were nil.

For the
year ended
December 31,

12H31H
(RMB million)
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For the For the
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HE2024%F #HE2025%F

12H31H 12H31H

(RMB million) (RMB million)
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In 2023, the Group did not have any balance of financial
products provided by CR Trust. In 2023, the service
fees and commissions for other financial products and
services provided by CR Trust were nil.

CRCL is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
and CR Bank and CR Trust are subsidiaries of CRH,
therefore both of them are connected persons of the
Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated November 18, 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated December 12, 2022 for further details
of the aforesaid transactions.

Supply Chain Cooperation Framework Agreement

On December 29, 2022, the Company and CR
Pharmaceutical (together with its subsidiaries, the
“CR Pharmaceutical Group”) entered into the
cooperation framework agreement (the “Supply Chain
Cooperation Framework Agreement”), which will
expire on December 31, 2024 and pursuant to which
the Group shall provide CR Pharmaceutical Group
Supply Chain Management Services of medical supplies
in relation to establishment of regional platforms and
streamlining of supply chain management procedures
in order to improve the efficiency of supply chain
management of medical supplies of CR Pharmaceutical
Group and reduce the corresponding costs. The
Group shall receive management service fees from
CR Pharmaceutical Group for the abovementioned
services.

The annual caps under the Supply Chain Cooperation
Framework Agreement for the two financial years
ending December 31, 2024 were RMB74 million and
RMB84 million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount
of management service fee income under the Supply
Chain Cooperation Framework Agreement receivable by
the Group was RMB38 million.

CRH is a controlling shareholder of the Company, and
CR Pharmaceutical, as a subsidiary of CRH, is therefore
a connected person of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated December 29, 2022 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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A.4 Hospital Management Agreement in respect of the

Rehabilitation Hospital

On March 12, 2021, Hubei Runkang Healthcare
Management Co., Ltd. (“"Hubei Runkang’, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
(as manager) and Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Runtou Consulting’, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Land) (as the principal)
entered into a hospital management agreement (the
“Hospital Management Agreement”), pursuant to
which Shenzhen Runtou Consulting shall appoint Hubei
Runkang to provide comprehensive operation and
management services for its Yuenianhua Rehabilitation
Hospital, Nanning City (the “Rehabilitation Hospital"”)
which include the introduction of management
and operation systems by Hubei Runkang, building
management team of the hospital, and the introduction
of various resources such as hospital brand and
medical technology. It shall also rely on the medical and
technical resources of the Group in enhancing various
disciplines of the Rehabilitation Hospital. The term shall
commence from March 12, 2021 to December 31,
2023 (both dates inclusive), a period of approximately
2 years and 10 months. Under the same terms, priority
shall be given to the Group to renew the Hospital
Management Agreement. During the preparation
period, Hubei Runkang shall charge a fixed monthly fee
of RMB450,000 which should be settled by Shenzhen
Runtou Consulting by the 11th day of the next month.
If it is less than one month, such fee shall be charged
on a pro rata basis. The first installment of such fee
should be paid on or before 5 working days from the
effective date of the Hospital Management Agreement.
Starting from the official opening of the Rehabilitation
Hospital, the service fee shall then be settled by the
Rehabilitation Hospital itself. The service fee comprises
three components: (1) the fixed fee of RMB3.5
million per annum; (2) the income related fee which is
equivalent to 6% of the target income of Rehabilitation
Hospitals, and adjusted by a certain percentage
according to the deviation from the target income
(there could be upward or downward adjustments); and
(3) the floating management fee pegged to operating
profit. The annual caps in respect of transactions
contemplated under the Hospital Management
Agreement for the three financial years ended
December 31, 2023 are RMB5,050,000, RMB9,400,000
and RMB17230,000, respectively. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, the transaction amount
under the mentioned agreement was RMB3 million.
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CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, and
CR Land is a subsidiary of CRH; while Shenzhen Runtou
Consulting is a subsidiary of CR Land, it is therefore a
connected person of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 12, 2021 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.

The Information Technology Services Framework
Agreements

CR Hospital Management and China Resources Digital
Holdings Company Limited (“CR Digital”) entered
into the information technology services annual
agreement (the “Information Technology Services
Annual Agreement”) on January 11, 2023 for a fixed
term of one year commencing from January 1, 2023 to
December 31, 2023, pursuant to which CR Digital and
its subsidiaries shall provide the relevant information
technology services to the Group and its Sponsored
Hospitals pursuant to the 2023 Information Technology
Services Annual Agreement. The annual cap for the
information technology services under 2023 Information
Technology Services Annual Agreement is RMB16
million.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
transaction amount of the Group under the afore
mentioned agreement was RMB14 million. The
Information Technology Services Framework Agreement
expired on December 31, 2023.

CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company
and indirectly holds the entire equity interests in CR
Digital. Hence, CR Digital is a connected person of the
Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated January 11, 2023 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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On February 8, 2024, CR Hospital Investment (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and CR Digital
entered into the 2024 IT Services Annual Agreement,
pursuant to which the CR Digital Group shall provide
the relevant information technology services to the
Group and its Sponsored Hospitals, for the term from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. The annual cap
for the year ending December 31, 2024 under the 2024
IT Services Annual Agreement is RMB34 million. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details.

Certain of the related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements also fall
under the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing
Rules, please refer to the corresponding notes to the
abovementioned Note 41 for further details. However, please
note that the figures of the abovementioned Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements is based on the accounting
treatment that according to the IFRS Accounting Standards
and the accounting policies of the Group, the Group has
retrospectively consolidated the financial results of the LH
Subjects and the JE Subject from June 2, 2022 (the date
on which the Group, the LH Subjects and the JE Subject
started to come under common control), while the statistical
caliber of this section (i.e.,
based on the fact that completion of the acquisition of the
LH Subjects and the JE Subject shall prevail. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

the “Connected Transactions”) is
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B.1 The Sales of Medical Supplies B.1 BEYEHE

On February 8, 2024, the Company entered into the
CR Healthcare Sales of Medical Supplies Framework
Agreement with CR Healthcare, and the Aerospace
Medical Sales of Medical Supplies Framework
Agreement with Aerospace Medical, both for a term
commencing from January 1, 2024 to December
31, 2025, pursuant to which the Group shall supply
pharmaceuticals, medical consumables and medical
devices to the member hospitals of CR Healthcare
(excluding the hospitals of the Group) and the member
hospitals of Aerospace Medical, respectively. The
annual cap for the CR Healthcare Sales of Medical
Supplies Framework Agreement is RMB45 million
for 2024 and RMB75 million for 2025 respectively,
while the annual cap for the Aerospace Medical
Sales of Medical Supplies Framework Agreement is
RMB85 million for 2024 and RMB100 million for 2025
respectively. On even date, the transactions (2023
Medical Supplies Sales”) conducted by the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2023, for the
sale of medical supplies to the member hospitals of
Aerospace Medical in order to meet their emerging
needs with aggregated transaction amount of
approximately RMB23.64 million was also ratified.

As of the date of such agreements, CR Healthcare
indirectly holds approximately 35.76% equity interests
in the Company, and CRCL, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, indirectly holds the entire equity
interests in CR Healthcare and 51% equity interests
in Aerospace Medical. As such, CR Healthcare and
Aerospace Medical are connected persons of the
Company. According to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the CR Healthcare Sales of Medical Supplies
Framework Agreement, Aerospace Medical Sales
of Medical Supplies Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder and 2023
Medical Supplies Sales constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated February 8, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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B.2 Procurement of Consultation Services

On February 8, 2024, the Company entered into the
Aerospace Medical Procurement of Consultation
Services Framework Agreement with Aerospace
Medical for a term commencing from January 1,
2024 to December 31, 2025, pursuant to which the
Group shall procure medical equipment consultation
services from Aerospace Medical. According to the
Aerospace Medical Procurement of Consultation
Services Framework Agreement, Aerospace Medical
provides medical equipment consulting services and
other services to the Group, including organizing large-
scale equipment research and formulating centralized
procurement equipment purchase plans; organizing
and implementing the formulation of personalized
demand plans for equipment; providing clinical support
for centralized equipment procurement; and organize
publicity and implementation of hospital equipment
centralized procurement system, etc. The annual cap
for the Aerospace Medical Procurement of Consultation
Services Framework Agreement is RMB8.5 million for
2024 and RMB10 million for 2025 respectively.

As disclosed above, Aerospace Medical is a connected
person of the Company, the Aerospace Medical
Procurement of Consultation Services Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated February 8, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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B.3 feHHIEHREERE

B.3 Provision of Supply Chain Management Services

On February 8, 2024, the Company and CR Healthcare
entered into the Supply Chain Management Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Group
shall provide supply chain management services
to the hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding the
hospitals of the Group), including provision to the
hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding the hospitals
of the Group) with integrated and jointly established
supply chain management services of medical supplies
which include establishing regional supply chain
management platforms of medical supplies in specific
regions and streamlining supply chain management
mechanism and procedures of medical supplies,
based on the operational management, business and
other conditions of the hospitals of CR Healthcare
(excluding the hospitals of the Group), in order to
assist CR Healthcare in improving the efficiency and
reducing the costs of supply management of medical
supplies. The corresponding term is from January 1,
2024 to December 31, 2025. The annual caps for the
years ending December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2025 under the Supply Chain Management Services
Framework Agreement are RMB65 million and RMB100
million, respectively.

As at such agreement, CR Healthcare indirectly holds
approximately 35.76% equity interests in the Company
and is indirectly wholly-owned by CRCL, a controlling
shareholder of the Company. As such, CR Healthcare
is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the Supply Chain Management Services Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated February 8, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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B.4 Acquisition of Logistics Services

On February 8, 2024, WRYK (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) and CR Pharmaceutical Commercial
entered into the Logistics Services Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group shall provide logistics services to
the Group, which the CR Pharmaceutical Commercial
Group will provide WRYK with warehousing and
distribution services for medical supplies based on
the operational management, business and other
conditions of the latter. Such services include provision
to WRYK the medical supplies storage, transportation,
distribution services, etc. within specific geographical
areas, in order to assist WRYK in improving the
efficiency and reducing the costs of supply of medical
supplies. The corresponding term is from January 1,
2024 to December 31, 2026. The annual caps for the
years ending December 31, 2024, December 31, 2025
and December 31, 2026 under the Logistics Services
Framework Agreement are RMB5 million, RMB8 million
and RMB12 million, respectively.

As at the date of such agreement, CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial is a subsidiary owned as to approximately
80.13% by CR Pharmaceutical, and CR Pharmaceutical
is indirectly owned as to approximately 53.05% by
CRCL, a controlling shareholder of the Company. As
such, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Logistics
Services Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated February 8, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.

B.5 Acquisition of Property Management Services

On March 25, 2024, the Company and CR Mixc
entered into the Property Management Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which CR Mixc and
its subsidiaries (the “CR Mixc Group”) shall provide
various property management services, including
cleaning, security, fire safety control, etc., to the Group
for a term of two years effective from January 1, 2024.
The annual caps thereunder are RMB41 million for the
year ending December 31, 2024 and RMB48 million for
the year ending December 31, 2025.
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As at the date of such agreement, CRCL (a controlling
shareholder of the Company) indirectly holds
approximately 73.72% equity interests in CR Mixc.
As such, CR Mixc is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the Property Management
Services Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated March 25, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.

The aforesaid Property Management Services
Framework Agreement and its annual caps have also
covered the following transactions of the Company and
their transaction amounts in 2024:

On February 8, 2024, Wugang Hospital and Runjia
Property Service (Wuhan) entered into the New
Wugang Property Services Agreement, pursuant to
which the latter shall continue to provide various
property management services including cleaning,
security, fire safety control, etc., to Wugang Hospital
for a term of one year, with a total service fee of
approximately RMB6.133 million (inclusive of VAT).

On July 31, 2023, Bengang Hospital (the acquisition
of controlling interests of which by the Group was
completed on June 25, 2023) and Runjia Property
Service (Shenyang) entered into Bengang Property
Services Agreement, pursuant to which Runjia
Property Service (Shenyang) would provide property
management services to Bengang Hospital for a term
of one year, with a total service fee of approximately
RMB9.6 million (inclusive of VAT).

Each of Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) and Runjia
Property Service (Shenyang), as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CR Mixc, is a connected person of the
Company.Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated February 8, 2024 for further details of
the these two transactions.
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Annual review of continuing connected
transactions

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024, the Company should have complied with
the relevant notification and announcement requirements
under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules regarding the
Bengang Hospitals Property Services Agreements and the
2023 Medical Supplies Sales. Regrettably, the Company
acknowledges that although the Company has put in place
a system for the management of connected transactions,
deficiencies in the implementation of internal controls
have led to inadvertent negligence, resulting in delayed
compliance with the relevant requirements under the Listing
Rules. Recently, when preparing the Company’s annual report
and formulating business plans, the relevant business units
reviewed the transactions and sought advice from the Board
and professional advisors regarding the implications of the
Listing Rules. Therefore, it is advised that the Company, after
obtaining the approval of the Board, promptly publish the
corresponding announcement to disclose the details of such
transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “"Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued its modified letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in pages 51 to 57 of this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. The following is the extract of the auditor’s letter that:

“Basis for qualified conclusion

With respect to the provision of property management
services to Bengang Hospital and the sale of medical
supplies to the member hospitals of Aerospace Medical, no
annual caps have been disclosed by the Group. Accordingly,
there was no suitable criteria for the purposes of forming
conclusion relating to these transactions. As a result, we
were unable to determine whether anything has come to
our attention that causes us to believe that the aggregate
amount of these continuing connected transactions set out
in the attached list of continuing connected transaction has
exceeded annual cap as required by Main Board Listing Rule
14A.56(4)"
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“Qualified conclusion

Based on the foregoing, in respect of the disclosed
continuing connected transactions:

a. nothing has come to our attention that causes us
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Company's
board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

c. nothing has come to our attention that causes us
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the continuing connected transactions set out in the
attached list of continuing connected transactions,
except for possible effect of the matter described in the
“Basis for Qualified Conclusion” section, nothing has
come to our attention that causes us to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.”

“Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to note 2 of the attached list of continuing
connected transactions of the Group, which discloses that
the continuing connected transactions under the Bengang
Hospital Property Services Agreement and 2023 Medical
Supplies Sales was only approved by the Company's board
of directors subsequent to 31 December 2023 on 8 February
2024. Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this
matter.”

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that for the year ended December 31, 2023:

(i)  these transactions were entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group;
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(i)  these transactions were entered into either on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties; and

(iii)  these transactions were entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that were fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, none of the related-party
transactions or continuing related-party transactions set out
in such note fall within the scope of discloseable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules. The connected and continuing connected
transactions of the Group are in compliance with the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

In respect of the litigation case between the Company
and the Yanhua Parties (i.e. the Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan
Hua Hospital) regarding the performance of the Yanhua
IOT Agreement in 2019, the Beijing Higher People’s Court
handed down a final judgment (2020 Jing Minzhong No.110)
on November 22, 2021, which rejected the appeal filed by
Yanhua in 2020 and upheld the original judgment in 2019 as
follows: the major details are as follows: (1) the unilateral
termination of Yan Hua IOT Agreement by Yan Hua Phoenix
and Yan Hua Hospital is declared to be void and that the
parties shall continue to perform its obligations under the
Yan Hua IOT Agreement; (2) the amount of RMB 14,400,000,
being the damages for breach of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement,
is to be paid by Yan Hua Phoenix to CR Hospital Management
& Consulting; (3) other reliefs sought by CR Hospital
Management & Consulting shall be dismissed; and (4) other
counterclaims of Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital shall
be dismissed. As the Yanhua Parties have been negligent
in complying with the abovementioned final judgment, the
Company then filed an application for enforcement with
the Beijing Second Intermediate People's Court in January
2022, and then accordingly received the liquidated damages
amounted to RMB14,400,000 and related overdue fine
paid by Yanhua Phoenix through the court enforcement
procedure in April 2022. However, due to the Yanhua Parties’
persistent refusal to perform the Yanhua 10T Agreement,
the Company brought a separate lawsuit against the Yanhua
Parties in September 2022 to seek compensation for the
losses suffered by the Company as a result of the Yanhua
Parties’ breach of the Yanhua IOT Agreement (including
the management fee and supply chain fee receivable by
the Company from 2019 to the filing date). Such lawsuit is
currently in the second instance of Beijing High People's
Court. The Company will continue use its best endeavours
and take all appropriate actions to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders. The Company will make
further announcement in accordance with the Listing Rules
as and when appropriate for the future progress of the Yan
Hua 10T Agreement dispute.
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Please refer to the announcements published by the
Company on January 15, 2019, January 21, 2019, April 17,
2019 and November 23, 2021 for more details.

No Director nor any connected entity of a Director had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the holding company of
the Company, or any of the Company's subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party at any time during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

In addition to certain connected transaction and continuing
connected transactions which have been disclosed in the
sections headed “Connected Transaction” and “Continuing
Connected Transactions” to this report respectively, on
May 23, 2019, CR Hospital Management & Consulting (a
subsidiary of the Company) as lessee and the Fengtai branch
of China Resources Land Hongjing (Beijing) Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (ZEEEMSAS bR BHERME
BRATEASHAT) (a branch company of a subsidiary
of CR Land) as lessor entered into a lease agreement (the
“Lease Agreement”) in relation to the lease of the 14th floor
of China Resources Kunlun Center Office Building, No. 5,
Courtyard No. 9, Fuyi Street, Fengtai District, Beijing, with
a total leasable floor area of 2,225.38 sg. m. for use as the
Group's office from June 1, 2019 to May 31, 2024. Pursuant
to the Lease Agreement, the rent for the period from June
1, 2019 to May 31, 2022 is RMB393,246.90 (including value-
added tax calculated at 9% and excluding utility charges)
per month, and for the period from June 1, 2022 to May 31,
2024, a sum of RMB405,063.67 (including value-added tax
calculated at 9% and excluding utility charges and property
management fees) per month. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated May 23, 2019.
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Other than the service contracts or letters of appointment
with the Directors, the Company has not entered into any
contract with any individuals, firms or corporate entities to
manage or regulate the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company during the year ended December
31, 2023.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee and
formulated the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings
(E=g:=%EHRAI)) of the Company in accordance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November
4, 2013. Its primary responsibilities include serving as a
focal point for communication among other Directors, the
external auditor and the internal auditor (where an internal
audit function exists) as regards their duties relating to
financial and other reporting, risk management and internal
controls, external and internal audits and such other financial
and accounting matters as the Board determines from time
to time, assisting the Board in providing an independent
review on the effectiveness of the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and overseeing the audit procedure, reviewing the
Group's financial and accounting policies and practices and
performing other duties and responsibilities as designated by
the Board.

As at December 31, 2023 and up to the publication date of
this annual report, the Audit Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
KWONG Kwok Kong (chairman of the committee) , Mr. FU
Tingmei and Mr. ZHOU Peng. The Audit Committee, together
with the management of the Company, has reviewed the
accounting principles, accounting standards and methods
adopted by the Company, discussed the matters concerning
risk management and internal control, auditing and financial
reporting matters and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2023.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee and
formulated the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings
(EEE:HERD]D) of the Company in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November 4,
2013. The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for:
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for Directors’ and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of Directors and senior management; and (iii) reviewing and
evaluating the performance-based remuneration and ensure
that no Directors or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

As at December 31, 2023 and up to the publication
date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consisted of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony (chairman of
the committee), and Mr. FU Tingmei,and a non-executive
Director, Ms. GE Lu.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee
on November 4, 2013 in compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for: (i)
identifying individuals suitably qualified as potential Board
members and selecting or making recommendation to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (ii) reviewing the structure, size and diversity
of the Board and the required skill mix as well as making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to ensure the implementation of the Company's strategic
goal; (iii) assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (iv) reviewing the qualification
of senior management nominated by the Chief Executive
Officer, reported to the Board for consideration and adoption.

As at December 31, 2023 and up to the publication date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consisted
of one executive Director, Mr. Song Qing (chairman of the
committee), and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. WU Ting Yuk Anthony and Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out
in Appendix C3 (i.e. the then Appendix 10) to the Listing
Rules as rules governing dealings by Directors in the listed
securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiry, the Company confirmed
that all members of the Board complied with the Model
Code during the year ended December 31, 2023. As senior
managers, executives and officers who, because of their
offices in the Company, may possess inside information
of the Company, they shall comply with the provision of
the Model Code. To the best knowledge of the Company,
no incident of non-compliance to the Model Code has
been committed by such employees during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, June 5,
2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, May 31, 2024 to Wednesday, June 5, 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify as members entitled
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, investors
should lodge all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates with the Company's branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on
Thursday, May 30, 2024.
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For determining the entitlement to the proposed Final
Dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, June 12, 2024 to Friday, June 14,
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the
entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, June 11, 2024.

The 2023 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each
Shareholder in HK$ at the average benchmark exchange rate
of RMB to HK$ as published by the People's Bank of China
during the five business days ending on Wednesday, June
5, 2024 (inclusive), being the date of the annual general
meeting, unless an election is made to receive the same in
RMB. To make such election, Shareholders should complete
the Dividend Currency Election Form, which is expected
to be despatched to Shareholders in late June 2024 as
soon as practicable after the record date of Friday, June
14, 2024 to determine Shareholders’ entitlement to the
2023 Final Dividend, and return it to the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, July 10, 2024. Shareholders who
are minded to elect to receive all (but not part) of the 2023
Final Dividend in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they
should ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to
which the RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for
payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques
can be cleared without material handling charges or delay
in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The cheques
are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on Friday, July 19, 2024 at the Shareholders’
own risk.
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If no election is made by a Shareholder or no duly
completed dividend currency election form in respect of
that Shareholder is received by the Company's branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, by 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, July 10, 2024,
such Shareholder will automatically receive the Final Dividend
in HKS.

All dividend payments in HK$ will be made in the usual way
on Friday, July 19, 2024. If Shareholders wish to receive the
Final Dividend in HK$ in the usual way, no additional action is
required. Shareholders should seek professional advice from
their own tax advisors regarding the possible tax implications
of the proposed dividend payment.

The full text of the Corporate Governance Report is set out
on pages 73 to 100 of this annual report.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

Based on the information publicly available and to the best of
the Board's knowledge, information and belief, the Company
has always maintained sufficient public float as required by
the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.
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Please refer to the paragraph headed “Subsequent Event(s)”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 24 of this annual report.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on June
1, 2023, Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company
and KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company.

The Company has appointed KPMG as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2023. KPMG will
retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting and is eligible to stand for reappointment.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in
this annual report form part of this director’s report.

On behalf of the Board
SONG Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 19, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has been committed to maintaining and
improving its standard of corporate governance in order to
enhance the accountability and transparency of the Group, so
as to increase the long-term return of the Shareholders. The
Company confirms that it has complied with all material code
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended December
31, 2023.

The Company will review and commit to making necessary
arrangement to comply with all the code provisions under
the CG Code and the rising expectations of Shareholders and
investors.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 (formerly known as
Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors complied with the
Model Code during the year ended December 31, 2023.
Senior management, executives and staff who, because of
their offices in the Company, are likely to possess inside
information, have also been requested to comply with the
provision of the Model Code and the Company confirmed
that there was no incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by such employees during the year ended December
31, 2023.

The Group regards “Strive for Public Health” as its corporate
mission, takes integrity, performance-oriented, people-
oriented and win-win collaboration as our values. We strive
to become a leading medical and health industry group in
China, and a pioneer in the reform of state-owned medical
institutions. The Group promotes a working atmosphere
with sincerity, solidarity, open-mindedness, proactivity. The
Company has formulated its culture handbook in response
to the corporate culture, and timely publicised it to all staff
(especially to the new recruits).
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The Directors are accountable to all Shareholders for their
leadership and supervision over the Group's operation,
and are committed to achieving the goal of increasing
Shareholders’ value.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
nine Directors, including four executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and four independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of Board during the year ended
December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Hai (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on February 27 2023)
Mr. Shan Baojie (Vice President)
Ms. Yang Min (Chief Financial Officer)
(Appointed on June 13, 2023)
Mr. Cheng Libing (Resigned on February 27 2023)
Ms. Ren Yuan (Resigned on June 13, 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Ge Lu (Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. Hu Hui (Resigned on September 14, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony

Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong

Mr. FuTingmei (Appointed on February 27 2023)

Mr. Zhou Peng (Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix (Resigned on June 13, 2023)

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
101 to 108 of this annual report. The list of the Directors
(by category) is also disclosed in all of the corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board
complied at all times with the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least
one-third of the Board), of which at least one Director has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has received annual independence
confirmation from all independent non-executive Directors
and confirms that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent and the conditions pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules have been fulfilled. The Company also
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules and the condition pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rule have been fulfilled.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) brought a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and judgement to the Board. Through
active participation at Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests
and serving on Board committees, all the non-executive
Directors have made various contributions to the effective
development of the Company.

The Board currently has 4 independent non-executive
Directors who have years of experience in audit, investment,
finance, law and business management. The independent
non-executive Directors are able to provide independent
and appropriate opinions to the Board so as to ensure that
the Board can obtain independent views and opinions that
it requires when exercising its powers and making major
decisions. The independent non-executive Directors (as
other Directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the senior management on the
matters to be discussed at Board meetings. They can also
seek assistance from the Company’'s company secretary
and, where necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company's expense. They shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which he/her
or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.
Such mechanisms are to ensure that a strong independent
element on, and independent views and input are available
to the Board. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
all the independent non-executive Directors attended Board
meetings regularly and actively participated in the decision-
making process of the Board, and provided independent
views and opinions to the Board when it performed its
duties. In view of the above, and after review, the Board
believes that its mechanism for obtaining independent
opinions has been fully implemented and continues to be
effective.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to
protect Directors from possible legal action against them.
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The Board is responsible for the performance of the
functions of corporate governance. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Board has performed the functions
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, including
reviewing the Company’'s implementation of corporate
governance and ensuring compliance with the CG Code (in
particular, the principles of good corporate governance) and
disclosure requirements in the corporate governance report.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. Song Qing
was the Chairman and Mr. Yu Hai (Since February 27 2023)
and Mr. Cheng Libing (from January 1, 2023 to February 27
2023) were successively the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. The Company has complied with Code Provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive should not be performed by
the same individual during the year.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contribution of the Board and Management

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is
responsible for the approval and supervision of the Group's
general development strategies, the review and approval
of the annual budget and business plans, the consent of
material investment projects related to the Group's business
development, the review on the Group's performance
and the supervision of the work of the management, and
ensures that the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company and Shareholders as a whole, operates effectively
and performs the necessary duties, as well as discusses
all the significant and appropriate issues of the Group's
business in a timely manner. All the Directors are entitled
to propose the inclusion of any item in the agenda of the
Board meetings for appropriate discussion. The Chairman has
appointed the secretary of the meeting to draft the Board
meetings’ agendas. Under the assistance of the executive
Directors and the secretary of the Board, the Chairman will
ensure that all the Directors are provided with sufficient and
reliable information in a timely manner required for necessary
analysis based on their expertise.
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The Chief Executive Officer has delegated sufficient authority
for the operation and management of the Group's business
to the executive Directors and other senior management
members, who are in-charge of the daily management of
the Group in every aspect, including implementation of the
Board's resolutions unanimously, and be accountable to the
Chief Executive Officer for the operations of various aspects
of the Group's business, while the Chief Executive Officer
shall be accountable to the Board for the Group's operations
as a whole.

The responsibilities of the Board are as follows:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Delegation by the Board

In order to enhance its corporate governance structure,
the Company has formulated the “Rules and Procedures
for Board Meetings” The “Rules and Procedures for Board
Meetings” specifies that the CEO Management Meeting
is composed of executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer,
Deputy President and other senior management, all being
called together by the Chief Executive Officer. As the
approval organization for the Company’'s daily operational
management, the committee is responsible for organizing
and managing the Company’s daily operations and
accountable to the Board.
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Board Meetings

According to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, regular
Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, there were only three regular Board
meetings held to review and consider the interim results
and the annual results, respectively, as the Company is not
required to announce its quarterly results under the Listing
Rules. Fifteen other Board meetings were held during the
year.

The Chairman also held a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without presence of other Directors
during the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board held
eighteen Board meetings. Attendance records of the
Directors at the Board meetings are set out as follows:

ES5EEEE
RIFECEEATHWTARXEC.E.11E
BREEEERREVEFETHR K
HNAHBFTE—XR -AHRIREZE LHRAAAF
BEANMEZFTEES > 8220235F12831H
HFE ERIT=XEHRESFTTIEUD T
BRAERTHREEREEES TSET
+TEREMESEEEE
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HZE2023F12B31HILFEE - EFF
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Executive Directors WiITES
Mr. Song Qing (Chairman) RBRE EFEL) 18/18
Mr. Yu Hai (Chief Executive Officer) Fieikd HEZ)

(Appointed on February 27 2023) (322023452527 H #EZ1T) 16/16
Mr. Shan Baoijie (Vice President) BENLE (5//EF) 18/18
Ms.Yang Min (Chief Financial Officer) WLt (BEEMFE)

(Appointed on June 13, 2023) (322023465 13 H #E Z1F) 12/12
Mr. Cheng Libing BRir stk

(Resigned on February 27 2023) (58202342527 H §F1F) 0/2
Ms. Ren Yuan (Resigned on June 13, 2023) Fi2i L (FR2023F64 13H §#E) 5/6
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Ms. Ge Lu (Appointed on September 14, 2023) B &+ (FR20234F 95 14H EZ1F) 5/5
Mr. Hu Hui (Resigned on September 14, 2023) tR¥E4c4E (722023494 14 H FFE) 13/13
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony HAEBEE 18/18
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong e e 18/18
Mr. Fu Tingmei BEXRLE

(Appointed on February 27 2023) (78202342527 H EZF) 16/16
Mr. Zhou Peng BEskE

(Appointed on September 14, 2023) (722023495 14 H EZ1E) 5/5
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix FERESLE

(Resigned on June 13, 2023) (322023465 13 H FF1F) 5/6
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Notice of regular Board meetings had been served to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to the meetings to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

For regular Board and committee meetings, all agendas,
meeting papers, together with all applicable, complete
and reliable statistics will be sent to all the Directors or
committee members at least three days before a meeting is
held. All Directors may propose any business to be included
in the agenda of the Board or committee meetings and
contact the company secretary to ensure full compliance
with all of the Board's procedures and applicable regulations.

In general, the senior management members shall attend
all the regular Board meetings and, if necessary, other
Board and committee meetings to advise on the Group's
business development, financial and accounting, statutory
and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and risk
management matters as well as other significant issues. The
Board may, if appropriate, authorize the Directors to seek
independent and professional advice at the expense of the
Group. Matters discussed and resolved at Board meetings
will be recorded in detail by the Board secretary who shall
prepare and file the minutes or resolutions. Generally,
draft minutes of Board meeting shall be issued to the
Directors within reasonable time for their comments after
such meeting is held, and the final version will be open for
inspections by the Directors.

The Articles of Association contains provision requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such
Directors or their associates have a material interest and this
provision has always been complied with.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Mr. YU Hai, Ms. YANG Min, Ms. GE Lu, Mr. FU Tingmei and
Mr. ZHOU Peng have been appointed as Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2023, and they had obtained
the legal advice as regards the requirements under the
Listing Rules that are applicable to them as Directors and
the possible consequences of making a false declaration or
giving false information to the Stock Exchange on February
28, 2023, June 14, 2023, September 14, 2023, February 28,
2023 and September 14, 2023 respectively, and all of them
have confirmed their understanding of their obligations as a
Director.

According to the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but no less than one-third) are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and any new Director appointed to fill casual vacancy shall
hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company and for any Director appointed as an addition to
the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors shall
be eligible for re-election.

Any other appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Directors will be timely disclosed to the
Shareholders by announcement and shall include in such
announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his/her
resignation.

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the
Independent Non-executive Directors ) was engaged on a
service contract or letter of appointment for a fixed term of
three years and shall be subject to retirement by rotation
once every three years.

ZERERES
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in attaining its strategic
objectives and achieving sustainable and balanced
development for the Group, and also for the compliance
with the provisions in the CG Code on board diversity which
became effective on September 1, 2013, the Board has
adopted a policy concerning diversity of Board members
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity,
cultural and educational background, communication
styles, interpersonal skills, functional expertise, problem
solving skills, professional qualifications, knowledge and
industry and regional experience and other qualities, and
all appointments to the Board will be based on merits and
will take into account of factors based on the Group's own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Company shall strengthen the board diversity as and when
appropriate according to the needs of business development
and corporate governance.

At the end of 2023, the female representation is 22.2% of
the Board and the Company has achieved gender diversity
in respect of the Board. The Board targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation, with the
ultimate goal of achieving gender parity. In considering
the Board’'s succession, the Nomination Committee would
engage independent professional search firm(s) to help
identify potential candidates for Directors, as and when
appropriate. The Company will continue to promote gender
diversity when recruiting middle to senior level employees
and reserve a group of female executives and potential
Director successors for the future. The Board will continue
to take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified. During 2023, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the structure, size, and diversity of the Board as well as the
selection criteria for Director candidate(s) and the Board
Diversity Policy, to ensure that the Board's composition
complies with the Listing Rules and reflects an appropriate
mix of skills, experience, and diversity that are relevant
to the Company's strategy, governance, and business and
contribute to the Board's effectiveness and efficiency.

EEXERRS
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has  RIRESHIR  IREREZEE G EB®RLU Tt 8

reviewed the following measurable objectives and the
progress towards these objectives:

1. The Board has at least one Director of a
different gender.

EXgE DAL TRMERNES

2 Consider the appointment of new Director(s)
from a wide range of candidates (including
backgrounds, ski | Is, exper ience and
perspectives that would complement the
existing Board) and preferably add gender
diversity.

HEZAL (BERES RE KR RESY]
ERNESERENBRS) PEREERE
ENEEARMEMNESENZ TEREF

—(BEEEE

3 To evaluate the composition and structure of
the Board annually , as well as the diversity of
the Board.

BEIRESEEAAER UREFEZ T
E1ER

4 Establish a pipeline of potential Director
successors which can reach gender diversity.

By —E~NERMRZ TR BEESE
EAEE

BERRERILEFERNEE !

By December 31, 2023, the Board has two female
Directors, the goal has been achieved.
BE2023F12A31H EEEHEMLLMES
BIRE&EM -

The goal of FY2023 has been achieved, and the
Company will continue to look for diverse and
suitable candidates for recommendation and
appointment as Director(s).

2023FHHFEBEM URKFENEZTIE &
BABLUERZERES-

The goal of FY2023 has been achieved, and the
Board evaluation process includes an assessment
of the Board's diversity helping to objectively
consider the Board composition and effectiveness.
2023 F M EEEEMN TZBAREEEEEZ T
1ERETHE - XM E RE S SAEMMER

The goal of FY2023 has been achieved, and the
Board shall seize the opportunity to increase the
proportion of female members over time when
selecting suitable Director candidates and making
recommendations accordingly. The Company shall
also continue to promote gender diversity when
recruiting middle and senior staff, and reserve a
group of female executives and potential Director
successors for the future.

2023 FHHEEEEN  TEEGBENEFEEAN
TriltiR HiEREEN  ESGIEER SRBRHE
MZE BRI LA o AT IR BT IBEEFR E 4R
ETFRHEMZ T RARARBEE—MZESE
ANERBEEEMHEEAN-
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In respect of our staff, the Group strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations in formulating the internal
policies of the Group and our member medical institutions,
and adheres to the principle of fair and open employment in
order to eliminate all discrimination based on factors such as
gender, age, race, and region, and provides our employees
with a diverse and inclusive working environment with fair
employment and promotion opportunities, respect and
privacy. There are no mitigating factors or circumstances
which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) more challenging or less
relevant. As of December 31, 2023, the total number of
employees (including senior management) of the Group is
20,172, among which the number of female employees is
14,453 (71.65%), and the number of male employees is 5,719
(28.35%), The Company expects that in consideration of the
business development, the gender ratio of all employees will
be maintained at the current level in the medium term.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Group has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Group. The
remuneration of Directors and senior management is
determined by taking into account of the relevant individual's
experience, responsibilities, workload and time commitment
to the Group and the operating results of the Group and
comparable market statistics, and is subject to review of the
Remuneration Committee and approval by the Board. The
Company's policy for determining the remuneration payable
to Directors also ensures that Directors are adequately
compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company's affairs, including their participation in Board
committees. The remuneration of executive Directors
comprises basic salaries, pensions, performance bonuses,
etc. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Details of the remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Company, by band for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out below:

4,001 to 5,000
3,001 to 4,000
2,001 to 3,000
Nil to 2,000

4,001%£5,000
3,001%4,000
2,001%3,000
£%2,000
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company has
not granted any share option or Award Share to (i) Connected
Persons; (ii) service providers; (iii) related entity participants;
(iv) employee participants with a vesting period less than 12
months; and (v) participants without performance targets
and/or claw back mechanism under the Share Option Scheme
and Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
held one annual general meeting ("AGM") and one
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). Attendance records
of the Directors at the general meetings are set out as

HE2023F12831HIEFE > RATHER
(WEAEE AL (NRFFIEEE (INEEERES
HE(VEESHEERFHBEHLMNI12E
B RVWARKREEEZK,SRNEH 2
RER B AR BRI ERIRMD o

HE2023F 12831 HLIEFE > ZATLEITT
— R BFAE ((RRBEXG)) k—
TREFA AT (RERFHIAKE)) - FFN
BERAGZHELREIIUWT -

follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Hai (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on February 27 2023)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Vice President)
Ms.Yang Min
(Appointed on June 13, 2023)

Mr. Cheng Libing

(Resigned on February 27 2023)
Ms. Ren Yuan

(Resigned on June 13, 2023)
Non-executive Directors
Ms. Ge Lu

(Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. Hu Hui

(Resigned on September 14, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong
Mr. Fu Tingmei

(Appointed on February 27 2023)
Mr. Zhou Peng

(Appointed on September 14, 2023)
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix

(Resigned on June 13, 2023)
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The 2024 annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on June 5, 2024. The notice of the annual general
meeting will be sent to the Shareholders at least 21 clear
days before the annual general meeting.

KAT2024F R BB ERE R 2024F6H
SHET REBFAZESHENKREEE
REFRDV2IHETETRE
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Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and is fully aware of the responsibilities and
obligations as being a Director as well as the compliance
practice under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors are kept updated on the
statutory and regulatory development and changes in the
business and the market so as to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. All Directors have participated in
the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of
a director of a listed company or further enhanced their
professional development by way of attending training
courses or reading relevant materials for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

A summary of the training received by the Directors for the
year ended December 31, 2023 according to the records
provided by the Directors is as follows:

EEXERRS
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RIFEEFTIRMAICEH > 8 E20235F128
BIHIEFE  EFMEZEIZHZWT

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Song Qing (Chairman) RBERE (EFER) 4

Mr. Yu Hai (Chief Executive Officer) FiBhE GEH) v
(Appointed on February 27 2023) (78202342527 H EZ1F)

Mr. Shan Baojie (Vice President) BENLE (5//EH) v

Ms.Yang Min (Appointed on June 13, 2023) 188 & X (1X20234F6/5 13H EZ1T) v

Mr. Cheng Libing DAVESS s v
(Resigned on February 27 2023) (32202342527 H F#(T)

Ms. Ren Yuan (Resigned on June 13, 2023) {E&E % * (322023465 13H gF 1F) v

Non-executive Director JEHMITES

Ms. Ge Lu BRYZ LT v
(Appointed on September 14, 2023) (72202395 14H EZ1F)

Mr. Hu Hui ()b e v
(Resigned on September 14, 2023) (522023495 14 H FE1E)

Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony HHE B4 v

Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BRI % v

Mr. Fu Tingmei EiEELE 4
(Appointed on February 27 2023) (78202342527 A EZ(F)

Mr. Zhou Peng BMskE v
(Appointed on September 14, 2023) (322023495 14 H HEZAE)

Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix EREEE v
(Resigned on June 13, 2023) (722023465 13H FE1E)
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The Board has established the Nomination Committee on
November 4, 2013 which currently consists of one executive
Director, Mr. Song Qing (chairman); and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony
and Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are set
out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities
include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, identifying appropriate and qualified individuals
to become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships, assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition
and makes recommendations of changes to the composition
of the Board. The Nomination Committee would consider
the benefits of all aspects of diversity set out in the
Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background,
communication styles, interpersonal skills, functional
expertise, problem solving skills, professional qualifications,
knowledge and industry and regional experience and other
qualities in reviewing and assessing the composition of the
Board and all appointments to the Board will be based on
merits and will take into account of factors based on the
Group's own business model and specific needs from time to
time.

EEEN2013F1MB4BMIRREES
REFE—RBPITES (RBLRE (FR)) K
MBBILIFANITESE (B | tAE B ERE
BIYESE) o

REZEENACKRBAESRNEBEDE-
HIZEROERIEETERE RERE
AR E (BERAE M# LG  MEaE
BEERNATEIEFTENEREEY
RREFEEERLESFHAGEAN GG
BIFRITESNEINE BEREFEEE
NEREFREFEISNE LHEEER

Fe M8 %y °

REEFEZTEER RREETHRTK
SMEEFEEMME UESEHEMME
WEBRHIERZR BRRLEGER A
HEEFEEAMER  EEEEEEE T
{EERFI8BIFRE Z oL HLRNED > 815
BARRKMEN & -BE XIERHEEH
SVEBHIC ARRID - BREER - BAE
BRIT BEER B RITEURMEL
BUREMEE BEESFEZMBEZERN
HERAESERE Uit RAEEB S EBER
ARARFZABEERFAREREL -
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The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy on a regular basis (which will include a review on
the effectiveness of the policy), discuss any required
changes with the Board and make recommendation of
revision to the Board Diversity Policy for consideration and
approval. The Nomination Committee has been provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duty. When
necessary, the Nomination Committee will seek independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform
its responsibilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Nomination
Committee held five meetings to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the committees and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considering the qualifications of the retiring Directors
standing for re-election at the annual general meeting and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of Directors. The particulars of the attendance of the
Nomination Committee are set forth as follows:

EEERRS

RLZEGRENRIEFT TS TEER
(EREERTZBERINAN) - REEE
SN EAPMENESRMEIEFTEZ T
THRAEFTRHERZZE  UHEE R
o RHEZEERERHENERUBITH
BE-NERRE RLZEGRSKBELE
FERUBETERYE ERAEARRAE-

BE2023F12831HLEFE IRLEESH
TTAREZLUBHEFEREEEZR
B RE RN EURBIIFAITESTZ
BUM EEREEFNRRBFATER
BEZERITRZEFTEEZRESZ RBZE
SEHFEFBHIAT

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

FELE
Name of the members of the Nomination Committee RHRELTEEMBESY BREXE
chairman: EE:
Mr. Song Qing RBIRE 5/5
Members: [DA=
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony tHEMB L 11
(Appointed on June 13, 2023) (22023465 13H EZ1F)
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB 5/5
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix ERBILE 3/4
(Resigned on June 13, 2023) (22023465 13H gF1T)

EHBRIERARAS

———

RS S —
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The Board has established the Remuneration Committee
on November 4, 2013 which currently consists of one non-
executive Director, Ms. Ge Lu; and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony
(chairman) and Mr. Fu Tingmei.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
set out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities
include reviewing and formulating policies in respect
of remuneration structure for all Directors and senior
management (including the remuneration packages (inclusive
of pension rights and compensation (if applicable)) of
individual executive Directors and senior management) and
making recommendations to the Board for its consideration,
reviewing and evaluating the performance of individual
executive Directors, approving the terms of executive
Directors’ service contracts, and reviewing and approving
matters in relation to Share Option Scheme or Share Award
Scheme.

BEEEN2013F1MB4BRIFTNEES
ROE—RFATES (BRYLL) ; ki#
BIYFFRTES PEMBRE (TF) REE
EhE e

FNEZEENACKRBAESNEBEEE-
HXrZEAEERI R EERMEBES
EREREBEAEHFMEBHEE THES
TIRUEHEBEZHAZEETROEERNR
TEERSHREEEAENFMNEE (R
RELHNBESES (NAH)) @ BT &7
HENNITEENRE - HERTEERD
BRIBER UK Rt E R R
BRI REN ST EINE R
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the & ZE2023F12B31HIEEE HNEETE
Remuneration Committee held five meeting to review the 1T7 AR Z&H ' U2 EESAEREE
remuneration policy for all Directors and senior management, A SMFHMESE G RTEETNRIBERE
assess the performance of executive Directors, and review H#HHEETEZEENRBER -FMEETHE
and approve service contracts of newly appointed Directors. =FIBEEHZIWT :

The particulars of the attendance of the Remuneration

Committee are set forth as follows:

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

HEBE S

Name of the members of the Remuneration Committee ¥ 7 ARERXEH

chairman: TE

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony HHENBLE 5/5

Members: RE :

Ms. Ge Lu BRZT N/A R A
(Appointed on September 14, 2023) (522023495 14 H EZ1F)

Mr. Fu Tingmei BiEERLE 4/4
(Appointed on February 27 2023) (72202322527 H EZAT)

Mr. Hu Hui Ehies 1/1
(Resigned on February 27 2023) (122023#2527 H §FE)

Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB 2/2
(Appointed on June 13, 2023 and (3220234565 13H EZ (T %
resigned a September 14, 2023) FR20234E9/5 14 H FF(E)

Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix TREEE 2/3
(Resigned on June 13, 2023) (722023465 13H FE1F)

Audit Committee BREZEY

On November 4, 2013, the Board has established the ZEZZR2013F1H4HHIBEZEZE S
Audit Committee currently consists of three independent IREIE=ZBEIUIEHITES (B): BEYLEE
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong (&) ~EEELEREELL) o
(chairman), Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhou Peng.
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The Board considered that the members of the Audit
Committee possess sufficient professional knowledge and
experience of accounting and financial management for the
performance of their responsibilities.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in its terms of reference. In view of the amendments to
the CG Code effective for the accounting period beginning
on January 1, 2016, the Group adopted a revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee on January 18, 2016 in
order to comply with certain changes relating to the risk
management and internal control section of the CG Code.
Its primary responsibilities include serving as a focal point
for communication among other Directors, the external
auditor and the internal auditor (where an internal audit
function exists) as regards their duties relating to financial
and other reporting, risk management and internal controls,
external and internal audits and such other financial and
accounting matters as the Board determines from time
to time, assisting the Board in providing an independent
review on the effectiveness of the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and overseeing the audit procedure, reviewing the
Group's financial and accounting policies and practices and
performing other duties and responsibilities as designated by
the Board.

EFgRn BEREEENBEEBRDES
R BEEEENRMRER  BEUBTRS
BUBES ©

BEREZEENHB RBAES N HR SR -
20161 A1 BB EEHIIB AN ®
FEATHESIMS  *EBEEN201651
BIsHRMEESIERZETREHE > XU
BREREFEATAEHAEREEKRANEE
E-—HNETEH HIEZSTREMFLHE
thES SN ZEE RN EBESE R
EBEETHAE) 2 EAMEM BN A RS
R EERNEEE MR ES R E
FETRHEENZSFEMMBNESEE
EHEHNBENTIZBRBR AL
BREHE RREE RN EERIE A
MHHEFEHIR BEEELEF &
RAEENMBREGFRRRERRET
EFgRENHMBENEE-
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the & E2023F12B31HIEEE  BREETHE
Audit Committee held five meetings to discharge its T AR EGZURBTHRBRETIZBHAEER
responsibilities and review the Group's annual and interim EEKPMAEXE FERESS RERS
results, continuing connected transactions, reporting and HREF -BEEAMAERREGEIER AL
compliance procedures, reports from the management on BRiEHIE - AEE NP ITRAERERF 2B
the Group's risk management and internal control systems, M ZMEUKBEINEZSET EREES
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control function HEFBEHIAOT :

and procedures and also the re-appointment of the external

auditor. The particulars of the attendance of the Audit

Committee are set forth as follows:

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

HEBE S
Name of the members of the Audit Committee g ARERXEH
chairman: TE
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BB 5/5
Members: RE :
Mr. Fu Tingmei BEELE 4/4
(Appointed on February 27 2023) (7220234 2/527 H EZ1T)
Mr. Zhou Peng BlsiE N/A RiE A
(Appointed as a member on September 14, 2023) (3R202345FE9F 14 H EZ (T4
Z5)
Mr. Hu Hui ) e 5/5
(Resigned as a member on September 14, 2023) (BR20235FE9F 14H T Z S
B%)
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix ERBREE il
(Resigned on February 27 2023) (7220234 2/527 H §E1F)
Appointment and Remuneration of ShES I BB RV R EE A B <&

External Auditor

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the total fee E{ZE2023F12B31HIEEE  MBZRFE
paid/payable to the external auditors of the Group in respect Sz i,/ F& i 7 £ [E HP BE 4% B4 6T A0 &5 B 4B 28
of audit services is RMB4.5 million. A AR 408 T o
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The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor. Such
appointment, re-appointment and removal are subject to
the approval by the Board and the general meetings of the
Company by the Shareholders.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor's report from pages 110 to 117 of this annual report.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
2023 which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as well as the results and cash
flow during that year.

December 31,

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group ensures statutory requirements are
met and applies appropriate accounting policies that are
consistently adopted and makes judgements and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper
accounting records are kept so that the Group could
prepare financial statements in accordance with statutory
requirements and the Group’s accounting policies. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities within the Group.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

BEZZEaSMIINEZHBEMEE B
RERODEFSFHERESR  2FEE
BEKRERBEEFERRENARIR
RAGEHESAEE-

AEBBIZBMEBARESAER LGS
PHERRNPBRSENRAE N EERSE
MOEN7ER B I LB R E A o

EFHMBRRNER

EERABRSUFERAEBRATFRBRASE
EMBERRRAFEFXRERBEERENTE
H & E2023F 12831 HILFE M FHIMKRAY
HfEe

EERD RV B®RKRE  AEBRERST
BIEERE IJ‘EﬁH—fﬁx MEYIEE E 5T

R WRBERG S EIFE S EEIENH
B A (&5 51 o

EXAERFREAREFE R UERE
E R RBOEERERAEEBN G 5 BURR
RUBBER-RETEERELEEANE
B WRMENGES R IERERAER
AESECCESRER U= - P

EXUEETENTEREECERESN
BRERRBENEBRSEHABERNERNE
RABRBARZE -
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Risk Management and Internal control

The Board would review the Group's risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year. The
Board confirms that it is responsible for the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and is responsible
for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. These
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group's business objectives
and the Board can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. During the
year ended December 31, 2023, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee as well as the management
report and the internal audit findings, has performed an
annual review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems in
different aspects of the Group such as financial, operation,
compliance and risk management, and has also assessed
the accounting and financial reporting functions and the
environmental, social & corporate governance function of
the Group, estimated the resources and budgets for training
programmes and appraised the staff members' qualifications
and experience. In respect of continuing connected
transactions, the Group has implemented a series of general
management policies controlled by multiple departments
to improve corporate governance structure and monitor
the implementation of internal control policies, including
financial control system, anti-fraud and legal monitoring
system, operations and compliance management system,
risk management and assessment policies and internal audit
rules.

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy
and system for employees and those who deal with the
issuer (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the audit committee (or any
designated committee comprising a majority of independent
non-executive directors) about possible improprieties in
any matter related to the issuer. The Company has also
established relevant policy that promote and support anti-
corruption laws and regulations.

The Board considers that the abovementioned systems
(including the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group) are effective and adequate.

EEXERRS
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The internal audit department is responsible for conducting
comprehensive audits of each department, subsidiary and
member of the Group to facilitate the management’s control
on the assets of the Group. In addition, it offers consulting
services in respect of internal control to each department of
the Group to assist them in optimizing and enhancing the risk
management and internal control systems and the operating
processes. As authorized by the management, the internal
audit department conducts an investigation on internal
corruption. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the
internal audit department did not discover any circumstances
involving fraud, non-compliance or violation against laws,
regulations and rules or any material incidents due to lack of
internal control.

The Board considers that the current risk management and
internal control systems cover the existing businesses of
the Group, and will continue to be optimized in line with the
business development of the Group.

In particular, the Board will devote efforts to complying with
the Listing Rules, ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws and regulation and safeguarding the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares
or their trading volume and decides whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information and needs to
be disclosed as soon as practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09
and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive Directors
and the company secretary are also responsible for approving
certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the
Company under powers delegated by the Board from time to
time.
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Mr. So Yiu Fung has been engaged by the Company as the
company secretary and an authorized representative with
effect from July 20, 2018.

The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. So is
Ms. Yang Min, an executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer.

Mr. So currently serves as the principal company secretarial
director of CR Corporate Affairs Limited. He is currently also
the company secretary of certain listed companies of China
Resources Group. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. So has over
17 years of experience in corporate finance, mergers and
acquisitions, company secretary and accounting.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. So has
complied with the requirement of taking no less than 15
hours of the relevant professional training under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

Constitutional Documents

On June 1,
annual general meeting of the Company to adopt the
fourth amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company in order to fully implement
the key powers and duties of the Board and conform to the
latest requirements of the Listing Rules and the Cayman
Islands Companies Act. The fourth amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

2023, a special resolution was passed at the

EEXERRS
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To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue
at general meetings, including the re-election of individual
retiring Directors. Except where the Chairman, in good
faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show
of hands, all resolutions tabled at the general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. Poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forums for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information
on the resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s).

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands for Shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to propose a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the paragraph below.

Pursuant to Article 57 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
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If within two (2) month of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board believes that effective communication with
investors is essential for establishing investors' confidence
and attracting new investors. The Company also recognizes
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables investors to make the
best investment decision.

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the
Shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules. Updated
and key information of the Company is also available on the
Company’s website at www.crmedical.hk. The Company
also replied the enquiries from Shareholders timely, if any.
The general meetings of the Company provide an important
channel for communications between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of
the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committee and where appropriate, the chairman
of the independent Board Committee, will be available to
answer questions at the general meetings.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

EEXERRS
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The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the arrangements on communication with
the Shareholders in 2023 and issued the “Shareholder
Communication Policy of China Resources Medical Holdings
Limited’ and confirmed that it has included channels for the
Shareholders to communicate their views on various matters
affecting the Company and that the Company has taken
appropriate and sufficient steps to solicit and understand the
views of the Shareholders and stakeholders, and the Board is
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of such
policy. The summary of the shareholders communication
policy is set out in the following paragraphs.

The above-mentioned policy aims to maintain continuous,
timely and effective communication with Shareholders
(including potential investors and analysts where appropriate)
to ensure that these stakeholders can obtain timely,
consistent and comprehensive information about the
Company when appropriate. The applicable channels include
(1) disclosure through the Company's financial report (i.e.,
annual report and interim report); (2) announcements,
circulars and other regulatory disclosure information
submitted to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the
continuous disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules,
which will also be immediately published on the website of
the Stock Exchange; (3) the general meeting of the Company;
and (4) other communication activities with investment
markets, including roadshows, industry forums, etc.

The Company also believes that general meeting is an
important opportunity for constructive communication
between the Board. The Company can issue a written
request to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company in accordance with the content and requisite
conditions stipulated under Article 57 of the Articles of
Association so as to request the Board to convene a general
meeting. The Chairman and the chairmen of the committees
under the Board, and in their absence, other members of the
relevant committees or their designated representatives shall
attend the meeting and communicate with the Shareholders.
The Company encourages its Shareholders to actively
participate in general meetings.
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The Company also organizes various activities from time to
time, including press conferences and one-on-one meetings
for investors, roadshows, media interviews, investor
promotion activities and industry forums, etc., to facilitate
communication with Shareholders and investors. The
Directors and employees of the Company must abide by the
disclosure responsibilities and requirements set out in the
Company'’s inside information policy when they have contact
or dialogue with investors, the media or other external
stakeholders.

If any Shareholder of the Company have any questions
about his/her shareholding under his/her name, he/she
should submit to the Company's share registrar (the contact
information of which is set out as below). Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders can raise comments or
inquiries or to request the company’s public information
at any time via e-mail at ir@crmedical.hk or by post to
the registered address of the Company (in the case of a
Shareholder, through the share registrar of the Company).

The Company understands the importance of protecting
the privacy of Shareholders. Unless otherwise stipulated
by laws, the Company shall not disclose information of any
Shareholder without consent of any such Shareholder.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: 14/F, Kunlun Center Office Building
No. 9, Fuyi Street

Fengtai District

Beijing, the People’s Republic of China

Email: ir@crmedical.hk
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TEEERRS
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited EBFTRFESELBRAE
Address: Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor ik EABFERRKER
Hopewell Centre 18358 & Ay
183 Queen’s Road East 17181712-17165% 84
Wanchai
HKSAR
Tel: (852) 2862 8688 BEE - (852) 2862 8688
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Executive Directors

Mr. Song Qing, aged 59, joined the Group in August 2018
as an executive Director and the vice Chairman, and was
re-designated as the Chairman in April 2021 and then
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee
in December 2021. Mr. Song holds a bachelor's degree
in Chinese medicine from Anhui University of Traditional
Chinese Medicine in Hefei, the PRC, and obtained his chief
pharmacist title from the general logistics department of
the People’s Liberation Army in April 1999. Mr. Song has
extensive experiences in corporate management, and has
over 30 years of experience and sophisticated background
in the pharmaceutical industry. Mr. Song is currently
the chairman of CR Healthcare, which is the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and also takes the role as the
Company's Chairman in order to lead the healthcare segment
of China Resources. The Company believes that with Mr.
Song’s extensive experience in corporate management and
mergers and acquisitions, and his deep understanding of
the healthcare industry, he will lead the Group to promote
business development, actively participate in the reform
of state-owned enterprises hospitals, accelerate the scale
expansion plan of the Company, further leverage advantages
of China Resources Group and further synergize the
collaboration between the Company and CR Healthcare. Mr.
Song was the director of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited (which is listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 3320) from May 2016 to August 2018,
and also its president from June 2017 to August 2018. Mr.
Song was the chairman of China Resources Sanjiu Medical
& Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (which is listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange; stock code: 000999) and he is currently
the chairman of DIRUI Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (which
is listed on ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange; stock
code: 300396). He also served as an inspection pharmacist
of quality inspection department, a pharmacist in charge
and the director of production department, the director of
the enterprise management department and an assistant to
president of Shenzhen South Pharmaceutical Factory. Mr.
Song served as an assistant general manager, the director of
technology center, the director of medical & pharmaceutical
department of Sanjiu Enterprise.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EShEREERAR

Mr. Yu Hai, aged 56, joined the Group in February 2023 as
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer. He
is currently the vice chairman and general manager of CR
Healthcare, and served as the senior vice general manager
of CR Healthcare from January 2020 to February 2023 and
as the chairman of Liaoning Healthcare Industry Group Co.,
Ltd. from July 2018 to January 2020. Mr. Yu worked in Benxi
Municipal Government, Liaoning Province from July 2008
to July 2018, and served as the deputy mayor of Benxi City
etc. Prior to that, Mr. Yu held various positions at government
departments including the deputy director of the Social
Development Division of the Department of Science &
Technology of Liaoning Province, the deputy director of the
High-tech Development and Industrialization Division of the
Department of Science & Technology of Liaoning Province,
the deputy director of the Bureau of Science and Technology
of Nagchu District, the Tibet Autonomous Region, and the
principal officer of the Industrial and Social Development
Division, the Scientific and Technological Commission of
Liaoning Province etc. Mr. Yu holds a doctor of science
degree in pharmaceutical affairs management from the
School of Pharmacy, Shenyang Pharmaceutical University.

Mr. Shan Baojie, aged 52, joined the Group in August 2021
as a non-executive Director and was re-designated as an
executive Director in December 2021, and he is also the
vice president of the Company. Mr. Shan obtained a master
degree in Accounting from Renmin University in Beijing in
June 2002 and a bachelor degree in Chemistry from Wuhan
University in Wuhan in July 1992. Mr. Shan is also currently
the vice general manager of CR Healthcare, the Company's
controlling shareholder, and is also taking the office as a
director of a number of its subsidiaries. Prior to joining CR
Healthcare, Mr. Shan was with the Group from 2011 to
2016 as the executive general manager and then the vice
general manager, and he was also an executive Director of
the Company from February 2016 to November 2016. He
had served in a variety of roles at the State Food and Drug
Administration from 1998 to 2011, and also completed a
training program at the World Health Organization in 2007,
where he gained experience in the U.S. pharmaceutical
supervision and management system. From July 1992 to July
1998, Mr. Shan worked in the general manager's office of the
Northeast Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.
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Ms. Yang Min, aged 45, was appointed as an executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer in June 2023. She
is currently the chief financial officer of CR Healthcare.
Previously, Ms. Yang served as the general manager of
the finance department of China Resources Gas Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1193) from December 2019 to May 2023, and she has
successively served in various positions of the aforesaid
company from November 2009 to December 2019 including
senior deputy general manager of the finance department,
deputy general manager of the audit department (acting
head of department), deputy general manager of the finance
department, assistant general manager of the finance
department, senior manager of the finance department,
assistant to the general manager and financial manager
of its subsidiaries, and the expatriate responsible person
of finance. Prior to that, Ms. Yang served successively
as manager, senior auditor and auditor of Ernst & Young
Huaming LLP Shenzhen Branch from September 2002
to November 2009.Ms. Yang holds a bachelor’s degree in
management majoring in accounting from the School of
Economics and Management of Northwestern University and
is a Certified Public Accountant of the PRC.
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EEREREERASR

Non-executive Director

Ms. Ge Lu, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee in
September 2023. She was appointed as a non-executive
director of China Resources Gas Group Limited (stock
code: 1193) in September 2023, an external director of
China Resources Digital Holdings Co., Limited in November
2021 and an external director of CR Healthcare in August
2021. She is also a designated external director of the
business unit(s) of China Resources Group. Ms. Ge served
as positions including the vice general manager, chief
information officer of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Limited GEHBHEmEERFRAE)
and China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (Z£8
B2 EEE A PR/AE)) and the general manager assistant of
Beijing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JtREZEK D BRAE)
(now known as China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial
Group Limited GEHEBEBEEBHBRAB)) from January
2010 to August 2021. Ms. Ge has over 30 years of working
experience in the pharmaceutical industry and specializes
in supply chain management, logistics management and
information systems management and planning in the
pharmaceutical distribution field. Ms. Ge holds a master’s
degree of business administration from Tsinghua University
(BZEKXZ) and a bachelor's degree of computer science
from Beijing Jiaotong University (At R35@AZ), and holds
the title of Senior Engineer.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Ting Yuk, Anthony, aged 69, joined the Group in
August 2018 as an independent non-executive Director
and the Chairman, and then resigned as the Chairman
in April 2021. Mr. Wu was appointed as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee in November 2022, and a
member of the Nomination Committee in June 2023. Mr.
Wu is a leader in the healthcare industry and has extensive
management experience in medical system. Mr. Wu joined
the board of the Hong Kong Hospital Authority in 1999
and was formerly its chairman from 2004 to 2013. He has
so far been the longest-serving chairman of the Hospital
Authority. He has led the team of the Hospital Authority
to manage all public hospitals and public clinics in Hong
Kong and implemented the public health policy of the Hong
Kong Government. He has also actively promoted a number
of public and private medical co-operation projects during
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his tenure. Mr. Wu is currently the principal advisor to the
State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine of
the PRC, a member of the Chinese Medicine Reform and
Development Advisory Committee. He was a member of
the State Council’s Medical Reform Leadership Advisory
Committee and an advisor to the Public Policy Advisory
Committee of the National Health and Family Planning
Commission. Other important public positions that Mr.
Wu has served include a member of the 12th and 13th
Standing Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference National Committee, and a member
of the Chief Executive's Council of Advisers on Innovation
and Strategic Development and the Task Force on Land
Supply of Hong Kong, and has been awarded JP and GBS
by the government of Hong Kong. Mr. Wu also served as
the chairman of the Chamber Council of the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce from 2010 to 2012, and is
currently a member of its consultation committee. Mr. Wu
was a partner of Ernst & Young (“EY"”) from 1985 to 2015,
and served as chairman of the EY's Far East Region from
2000 to 2005. He is currently the chief advisor to MUFG
Bank, Ltd., the chairman of The China Oxford Scholarship
Fund, an honorary professor of the Faculty of Medicine of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the Peking Union
Medical College Hospital, and an honorary fellow of the
Hong Kong College of Community Medicine. Mr. Wu also
has directorships in certain listed companies of the main
board of the Stock Exchange: he is an independent non-
executive director of Sing Tao News Corporation Limited
(stock code: 1105), Power Assets Holdings Limited (stock
code: 6), China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 966), Cstone Pharmaceuticals (stock code:
2616), Ocumension Therapeutics (stock code: 1477) and Hui
Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 87001), and
is also the chairman and non-executive director of CLARITY
MEDICAL GROUP HOLDING LIMITED (stock code: 1406),
and the chairman and independent non-executive director
of Venus Mecttech (Hangzhou) Inc. (stock code: 2500). He
was an executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong)
Limited (stock code: 444) and an independent non-executive
director of Guangdong Investment Limited (stock code:
270). He was also an independent non-executive director of
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) from
2009 to 2015. He was also a director of the Fidelity Funds
from 2011 to 2014. Mr. Wu is a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and the
honorary chairman of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants (Australia) Hong Kong Branch.
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EEREREERASR

Notwithstanding Mr. Wu's engagement as an independent
non-executive director of eight listed companies (including
the Company) and an non-executive director of one listed
company, Mr. Wu confirmed that he would devote sufficient
time to act as an independent non-executive Director based
on the following:

° Mr. Wu is neither a full-time member of the
abovementioned companies nor involved in the day-
to-day operations or management of such companies.
As such, he has no executive and management
responsibility therein;

o he is not a chief executive officer or full-time executive
director of any listed company;

° with his background and experience, Mr. Wu is
fully aware of the responsibilities and expected
time involvement for an independent non-executive
director. He has sufficient understanding of his role
as independent director in different listed companies
and of estimating the time required for attending to
the affairs of each listed company. He has not found
difficulties in devoting to and managing his time with
numerous companies and he is confident that with his
experience in being responsible for several roles, he will
be able to discharge his duties to the Company; and

° Mr. Wu's role in the Group is non-executive in nature
and he will not be involved in the daily management
of the Group's business, thus his engagement as an
independent non-executive Director will not require his
full-time participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors are of the view that
the various positions currently held by Mr. Wu will not result
in Mr. Wu not having sufficient time to act as an independent
non-executive Director or not properly discharging his
fiduciary duties as a Director.
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Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong, aged 76, joined the Group in
September 2013 as an independent non-executive Director
and also the chairman of the Audit Committee and has been
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on
March 23, 2018. He was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on June 13, 2023 and resigned
from such position on September 14, 2023. He was the
chief executive officer of Pok Oi Hospital, a well-known non-
profit hospital in Hong Kong. As the chief executive officer,
Mr. Kwong provided corporate governance and management
support to the board of directors for development,
management and supervision of the units under Pok Oi
Hospital for the past 10 years. He joined Pok Oi Hospital as
an internal audit manager in 2003. Mr. Kwong is a director
of Yuen Long District Healthy City Association Company
Limited, a non-profit organization supporting the government
to promote public healthcare messages to people in the
district. Before joining Pok Oi Hospital, Mr. Kwong served
as the principal auditor of the Audit Commission of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. Mr. Kwong served in the Audit Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong since 1980. Mr. Kwong has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 1982.

Mr. Fu Tingmei, aged 57 joined the Group in February 2023
as an independent non-executive Director and also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He currently serves as an independent nonexecutive director
of the following companies which are listed on the Stock
Exchange: China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(stock code: 3320), Guotai Junan International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1788), COFCO Joycome Foods Limited
(stock code: 1610) and China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 2016; also listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601916)). Mr. Fu was an independent non-
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0392)
from July 2008 to June 2017, an independent non-executive
director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0906) from June 2008 to July
2019 and an independent non-executive director of Postal
Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1658) from May 2016 to March
2023. Mr. Fu has over 30 years of experience in investment,
finance, law and business management. Mr. Fu holds a
master's degree in law and a Ph.D. degree in law from
London University, the United Kingdom.
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EEREREERASR

Mr. Zhou Peng, aged 47 was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee in September 2023. He is the founder of Deep
Blue Ridge Capital ("DBR Capital”). DBR Capital is a multi-
strategy investment firm based in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhou has
20 years of experience in global mergers and acquisitions
and capital markets. Before founding DBR Capital, Mr. Zhou
worked in Deutsche Bank (Hong Kong) and Credit Suisse
(New York), and cooperated with the world’s top institutional
and corporate clients to complete a number of cross-industry
and cross-product transactions; and Mr. Zhou's career
began in Bank of China. Mr. Zhou holds a master’s degree
in business administration from Columbia University in New
York.

Mr. Wu Xinchun, aged 53, was appointed as the vice
president of the Company in December 2018. He is also the
deputy general manager of CR Healthcare. From September
2016 to November 2018, Mr. Wu served as the chairman
of China Resources Wugang (Hubei) Hospital Management
Co.,Ltd. and Wugang CR Gas*. From September 2001
to November 2018, he was the director of technology
management department, technology quality department,
innovation department, intellectual property department and
general manager of information and innovation department
of Wugang Group*, executive director and general manager
of Wugang Modern City Services Group*, executive director
and general manager of Wuhan Yangtze River Water* and
assistant to general manager of the headquarters of China
Baowu Iron and Steel Group and Wugang Group* , etc. And
He also served as deputy secretary general of China Iron
and Steel Industry Association and independent director of
Kingray New Materials Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (a
company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600390). Mr. Wu holds a doctor degree in engineering from
Wuhan University of Technology and was granted the title
of senior engineer at a professor level from Titles Evaluation
Committee of Hubei Province in December 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Ju, aged 51, is currently the vice president of the
Company. He is also the deputy general manager of CR
Healthcare, the chairman of China Resources Healthcare
(Jiangxi) Co., Ltd., Runneng Medical Management Co., Ltd
and Guangzhou Runchuan Healthcare Management Co., Ltd.
Mr. Liu previously served as the general manager of the
Finance Department of CR Healthcare, the vice president of
the Sanjiu Brain Hospital, etc. He was the vice president of
the professional committee of primary medical education of
the China Medicine Education Association, the researcher
of the Guangdong Institute of Public Health and Economics,
the vice president of Guangdong Medical Education
Association, Guangdong Medicine Price Expert and certain
other national/ provincial academic positions, and director
of China Resources Wandong Medical Equipment Co., Ltd.
(currently known as Beijing Wandong Medical Technology
Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
Stock code 600055.SH). Mr. Liu holds a master degree in
Health Administration from Flinders University in Australia,
and is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountant and a Chinese Senior Accountant.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B RS

kpmg

To the shareholders of
China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 118 to 277 which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

RERBRERAMRABRKRE

RHEHSEMELZBFIRAE)

KB EAFENFE118E277ENEHRE
BIEKRERAR (IB828)) REKBAS
(TEE£E) NEREaBHRFz ILREMHE
RERAIEN2023F 12831 BHRESHFER
MREAHEZH EFENFREEBRERE
FEE2ERERER - GERDEHRERMET
AREMERTURKF EFEREEARE
STERERN R EMRBEER -

HFRER ZEFGEYBREERERRE
STERNEEERMA(ERMBRE G5t
AEEMDEtRRT SHEER2023F
12A31BMNGEMBRIRBEZALLE
ENGEVHRBERMERERE LEE
REA(RBR) IR E L D5 -

KPERBEEBGMASTRMH(EERE
STER)ETES - RPIEXFER T AIE
NEEEEARS (REIHLFEA RS
HEAAENEEIBDRIFE— T WA R
BEBESHAMAGETN(EESAERE
TR AT MR Uk FIH RS
EReMBRENSAHENEAERER
EoRMABIN BEEE TEBTELER
ERTFTRIPHNHEMBEERSE - FFIAE
5 RPIFTESNES REETLERBEE M
HEMANEFERREHEER-

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B I L BETER S

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RAETETEESRBRFIMNEZE AL > VA
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HAHGEHBEREANBARALAEENS
consolidated financial statements of the current period. B -ELEBIBEERAERGEEMBRREEET
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit Bt LA ERNE S FETREMN KM
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and T HELEIERHEFBNER-

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of goodwill

8 E

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

55 24T & B IR M 52 17X R W1 522489 & 51 B ©

The Key Audit Matter
R Bt HIH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAEBEFPENMENN

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
goodwill of RMB3,599 million in relation to business
acquisitions, which represented 26% of the Group's
consolidated total assets.

2023F12831H EEEMEFWERESHE
ARM3,5998 8 HENR EEEGRSEERE
BJ26% ©

Goodwill was allocated to respective cash-
generating unit (CGU) groups. Impairment test is
performed by management on respective CGU
groups to which goodwill has been allocated at
least annually by comparing the carrying value with
the recoverable amount of the CGU groups, which
is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal.
BEROEEENNREELENAEA BEEES
FRIONESEHENENIREELEMAARET
—RREAFR A EARREEELEEUARNNRE
EgHEHEPKCTEE BIEAEBEEARABEREE
MANREE) (FLLE -

The value in use of the CGU groups were
determined by management using discounted
cash flow forecasts. The key assumptions of the
discounted cash flow model included revenue
growth rates, gross profit margins and discount
rates.

ReELEAANNEREEN HEEEEARALIR
RenEBlBEE MRRERERENTERR
BIEWGEERER BN KRR

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment of
goodwill included the following:

R EEREFMRITHNESEFaE

° understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of management’s key internal
control in respect of the goodwill impairment
assessment;

s THKTEEEEMBERENGIFEHNEER
BB IERIRR ST REIRIE N 5

o assessing management’'s identification of
CGU groups and the allocation of assets and
liabilities to CGU groups with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e ZERTEAENNFRE THEEEHIRE
ELEMANRSEEREBGNREREELSE
fIABRIBVIE T 5

o on a sample basis, comparing the key
assumptions used in the discounted cash flow
forecasts under value in use, including revenue
growth rates and gross profit margins, with
historical performance and other available
external information;

s HWEEBEABETHMRRERETFANEIER
® (BERRIEREXRENX) BELRIRKEM
FISSMNER B RHETTLEE 5
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB S

The Key Audit Matter
RAREtHIA

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAESEFHRINAREN

If the value in use of CGU groups are lower than the
carrying amount, management will also assess the
fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU groups.
The key assumptions of the fair value less costs of
disposal model include price per square metre of
buildings.
WREESBMUMANNERAEERNERESEE B
BETRIGREELEEMANNARBERRE
A AREBEBREENARLINTIERZEES
TR AREFHER-

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter because the key assumptions
in determining the recoverable amount of the
CGUs involves a significant degree of management
judgement and may be subject to management
bias.

R EmERETLRAEAARSEHSZTE RER
ErEREELBUTKEEENTERRIRKE
BEEHE IEFEEEEREERENER -

on a sample basis, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, evaluating: (i) the
methodology adopted for recoverable amounts
measured under both value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal approach with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and (ii) the discount rates used in
the discounted cash flow forecasts under value
in use, and the key assumptions of fair value
less costs of disposal model, including the price
per square metre of buildings, by performing
independent expectation based on external
available information;
EMEABEEERBE T Mg EO)2EE
AT RREMRBEEREBERRANEBERE
BN AE St E IR B REPA RN 750% 5 Kelii)fsE
HEETHRBESRETBAMANAERE MK
NABEREENAERIENTERS (BES
THRKBFHNER) > HEARBINETEER
YEH B 5T 5

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including the revenue growth rates, gross profit
margins and discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts under value in
use and considering the possibility of error or
management bias;

TMEEEENSRIERK (BEFEABE T
RRERERAMEMN B DIEREE - EFNEXR
BRIRE) EITTHNHREDT > L EEBHIBHERK
EIRERBIBERAAIAEN ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B I L BETER S

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
RSt EE ZEHEEETPEMAREHEN

performing a retrospective review of last year's
impairment assessment and comparing the
cash flow forecasts under value in use with the
current year's results to assess the reliability
of management's forecasting process, making
enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variances identified and whether
these have been considered in the current
forecasts; and
HE—FENRETGETEMNER > LR
BETHNREREVAELAXFEENEZETL
B UEBEEERAEFNTFE S BLATEEIR
NERNERREAEEEEEANEAZRSES
BERRENEEEBFELEN ; &

considering the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the
impairment assessment with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

BERTEAEANRE  TRESHMBREA
BRI ESTLAVIREE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB S

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB S

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. \We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yu Wai Sum.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

19 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AREEmBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB")) #ZE2023F12831HLLEE (UARHESIR)

REVENUE & B 10,107,500 7,901,287
Cost of sales HE AR (8,201,663) (6,595,452)
Gross profit EF] 1,905,837 1,305,835
Other income Hug A 6 189,887 228,887
Other gains and losses, net HA Wz & k518 /3 28 7 (107,097) (163,868)
Selling and distribution expenses  $HE KD IHE A (2,728) (19,532)
Administrative expenses THER (970,769) (808,661)
Finance costs MHBER 9 (131,835) (71,148)
Impairment losses on financial THERGHNEERE

and contract assets, net E518 75 %8 (129,347) (27.806)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEERERE

assets 16 (1,863) -
Impairment loss on property, ME~ME KRB

plant and equipment BIEEE 15 (208,926) (510)
Impairment loss of goodwill 2R E R 8 17 (141,018) (108,324)
Share of profits and losses of: LR ER .

A joint venture —ME&aERE - (4,217)

Associates i — BN 90,780 92,285
PROFIT BEFORE TAX AT F 8 492,921 422,941
Income tax FTi5i 12 (165,031) (94,660)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR R 327,890 328,281
Attributable to: FEAL

Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZZ =N 257,680 265,855

Non-controlling interests JEIER S 70,210 62,426

327,890 328,281

EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAEEERER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BFEAELSR

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BH

PARENT 14

Basic (RMB yuan) B (AR D) 0.20 0.21

Diluted (RMB yuan) #8 (AR 0.20 0.21

$£128F277EM M A ILE BRI —
R o REEENRATRGERERENE
IFE NN EAEE

The notes on pages 128 to 277 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year are set out in note
13.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEEEBmBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) E.£2023%F12831HLEEE (UAREFIR)

2023 2022
20234 20224
(restated)
(B %)
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B 5 AREFTT AREF T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 327,890 328,281
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hth 2 E A
INCOME
Other comprehensive income REBHBEEFEER
that will not be reclassified to DEERBEmNAEM
profit or loss in subsequent 2HEWA
periods:
Re-measurement (losses)/gains RERMFEINER
on defined benefit plans, TE (B8 &
net of nil tax B RIEE T 32 (14,306) 1,606

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZmKA4L%E

FORTHE YEAR 313,584 329,887

Attributable to: e -
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZ 2= DN 247,087 267,027
Non-controlling interests JEIER R 66,497 62,860
313,584 329,887

The notes on pages 128 to 277 form part of these financial 5128E277EMHEALEHFRERN—
statements. BB e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE MBI R

At 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) 1220235 12831H (UAREF]R)

2023
20234

RMB'000
ARBT T

2022
20224
(restated)

(&%)
RMB’000
ARET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS SEREMEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BE KRB 15 4,863,851 4,987.692
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 497,843 429,984
Goodwill GRS 17 3,599,182 3,740,200
Other intangible assets HhErE&EE 18 45,304 68,657
Investments in associates REE AT ZEKE 19 982,350 980,453
Receivables from invest-operate- RERE — &EE
transfer (“IOT") hospitals — B3 (M0T.) Bix
2 FEWRRIR 20 37,434 54,965
Financial assets at fair value UrnBEFTEEH
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") BEF AEGR
(MUrnEBEER
HES g5t ABm))
NEREE 21 49,084 65,604
Other financial assets at Hahiz @i At £
amortised cost NEREE 22 - 526,586
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE 33 42,178 26,303
Due from related parties & UK BE Bk 75 7RIB - 5,283
Other non-current assets HMIERENEE 23 107,887 165,560
Total non-current assets JEmBNE EARER 10,225,113 11,051,287
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories 78 24 302,076 367475
Trade and bills receivables FEW B 5 RIB K
R 25 1,535,652 1,490,670
Contract assets BHEE 26 8,257 21,872
Prepayments, deposits and SEENE RN o
other receivables H h e W Rk IE 27 270,499 380,631
Due from related parties FEE Wit ) Bt 75 7R 1B 41(b) 32,213 1,062,448
Other financial assets at Hth i@ At 2
amortised cost R EE 22 = 324,301
Restricted and pledged bank BRI A B 5
deposits RITER 28 44,285 18,879
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIRSEEY 28 1,236,097 3,100,011
Total current assets MBS ELLE 3,429,079 6,766,287
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
trE MBI RR

At 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) 1220235 12831H (UAREF]R)

2023 2022
20234 20224
(restated)
(B %)
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®EFT AREEFT
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Trade and bills payables BB S RIER
e R 29 1,731,495 1,734,297
Other payables and accruals H i & TRIB &z
FEstE B 30 1,670,544 1,698,992
Due to related parties & 1 Fe#) Bt 75 7R I8 41(b) 369,181 303,978
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 31 1,277,874 1,310,636
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 45,028 38,518
Deferred income IEIEUT A 22,809 2,488
Tax payable eI E 90,442 35,401
Total current liabilities MENEEARRE 5,207,373 5,124,310
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ nE (8l T EEFH
ASSETS (1,778,294) 1,641,977

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERMBAR

LIABILITIES 8,446,819 12,693,264
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREmasd
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s+ BIR{TEMN 31 884,846 1,017,263
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 103,642 35,306
Defined benefit plan obligations RERMFEEE 32 364,426 374,858
Deferred income IR FEWTA 23,060 41,449
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEESE 33 33,783 71,316
Provision B 34 1,930 23,884
Due to related parties P& RA B 75 /18 - 449,017
Other liabilities Hth&®s 22,066 26,271
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEMEEE 1,433,753 2,039,364
Net assets BEZE 7,013,066 10,653,900
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At 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) 1220235 12831H (UAREF]R)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
20234 20224
(restated)
(E5))
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AE®EFT
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of ZEATHEF A
the Company FE 1k 1 2
Share capital [N 35 267 267
Reserves # 36 5,811,794 9,505,944
5,812,061 9,506,211
Non-controlling interests JEIER T 1,201,005 1,147,689
Total equity ‘B 7,013,066 10,653,900

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 277
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 19 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yu Hai
Fis
Director

EF

The notes on pages 128 to 277 form part of these financial
statements.

FN8E277TEMN &SRR 2024FE3 8
1OREEESHEREETZ  TAHUTR
REE .

Yang Min
Lok
Director

EX

F128E277TEMN AL EMBEHRETN—
B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=

nin

BREmEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) £.£2023%F 12831 HLEEE (UARETIR)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Finance costs

Share of profits of a joint venture

and associates

Interest and investment income
Dividend income on a financial

asset at FVTPL

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of deferred income
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on deregistration of a

subsidiary

Gain on lease termination
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Change in fair value of

financial assets at FVTPL

Foreign exchange differences, net
Equity-settled share-based

payment expense

Impairment losses on financial

assets, net

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

Impairment losses on goodwill
Write-down of inventories

Change in inventories

Change in trade and bills

receivables

Change in contract assets
Change in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables
Change in amounts due

from related parties

Change in trade and bills payables

Change in other payables

and accruals

Change in amounts due to

related parties

Change in defined plan obligations
Change in deferred income

Change in provision
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) #{£2023F12831HIEEE (UAREFIR)

492,921 422,941

9 131,835 71,148
(90,780) (88,068)
6 (85,333) (93,350)
6 (3,871) (3,249)
8 552,590 426,449
8 51,753 53,263
8 6,520 6,694
(15,279) (23,533)
7 - (5,677)
7 - (44)
7 - (201)
7 2,385 309
7 16,520 (5,629)
7 77,689 158,878
= 2,164

129,347 27.806

210,789 510

141,018 108,324

216 19

1,618,320 1,058,754
65,183 (17.336)

(118,768) 110,733
7517 (1,560)

4,198 100,450
(1,515) (15,529)
9,713 (152,760)
(164,739) (141,871)

(68,447) 20,724
(41,711) (2,400)

17,211 8,537

(21,954) 3,225
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
maRERERKR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) #ZE2023F12831HIEEE (UARESITR)

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

Cash generated from operations REMELXRESNE 1,305,008 970,967
Interest received BUF B 53,513 36,458
Income tax paid BEfPTER (163,398) (143,837)
Net cash generated from operating A& EBFFBIRE S5
activities 1,195,123 863,588
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KERETFNIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Investment income on financial UnnfBEstEEE
assets at FVTPL HET ABmSR
BEREWG 10,529 28,867
Dividend received from a financial BUARBEEBEE
asset at FVTPL BEST ABm SR
BEEWRZEER 3,871 3,249
Purchases of items of property, BEYE - BEX&
plant and equipment REIEE (486,681) (466,277)
Proceeds from disposal of items of FBEEY¥ - HMEKZE
property, plant and equipment HEMEXRIE 54,983 6,129
Receipt of government grant for WER D 2 ~ R B Re 5% 18
property, plant and equipment Z BT 4B 8,768 5,020
Purchases of financial assets at BEUAABES=ZER
FVTPL HES)st ABm W
THEE (2,473,600) (3,686,396)
Proceeds from disposal of financial BR&UAAEETER
assets at FVTPL HEHMT ABEN
EREEPERIE 2,473,600 3,886,396
Purchases of other financial assets B 5 E fthig # 85 pl A&
at amortised cost HENEREE (210,000) (690,801)
Proceeds from disposal of other BE B H IR i A
financial assets at amortised cost FtEMELREE
FriSm I8 1,082,178 877038
Repayment from 10T hospitals REBIOTEPE 21BN 7,388 12,488
Dividends received from a joint B—HE&ERBEUER
venture MR = 1,189
Dividends from associates KEBMEATNKE 88,883 =
Investments in associates REERB 2 RE - (4,900)
Disposal of a subsidiary EE—EREAE - 5
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A ) = 173,918
Settlement of consideration for the #BFWEHEB AT Z
acquisition of subsidiaries 1B 38 (3,768,032) =
(Increase)/decrease in restricted and FREITMEF BIRIFERITIER
pledged bank deposits (gm) (25,406) 3,440
Settlement of balances due from 5B FE N BE R 5 IIB &S BR
related parties 611,424 (643,386)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEHPTH
activities HEne 35 (2,622,095) (494,021)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREREBWMR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in RMB) &£2023%F128318LEEE UARESR)
2023 2022

20234 20224
(restated)

(E7))
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REREEHHN

ACTIVITIES BEhs
Repayment to the Sponsored ) SRR BR PR R

Hospitals - (260)
New bank borrowings ERITRER 39(b) 5,553,984 8,613,930
Repayment of bank borrowings IRITEMNER 39(b) (5,772,797) (8,619,960)
Principal portion of lease payments FEEMHAS IS 39(b) (46,468) (30,387)
Dividend paid BENRE (42,353) (129,601)
Dividends paid to non-controlling IR FIEERRKRE

shareholders ZRE (13,181) (543)
Repayment of other payable and EEHMEMMIER

accruals FESTE R - (474)
Interest paid BENFHE (116,268) (56,396)
Net cash flows used in MEEEFFIARE

financing activities e FEE (437,083) (223,691)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN BEMIFSEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  GeizZl) /15458 (1,864,055) 145,876
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEEY

beginning of year 3,100,011 2,951,401
Effect of exchange rate changes, net FE SR &) 22 2858 58 141 2,734

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RIS RIREEEY
END OF YEAR 1,236,097 3,100,011

The notes on pages 128 to 277 form part of these financial 5128F277E MMM EBLHHFREN
statements. —& e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HmRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (BB AIEHES » UAREIIR)

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
of the Company is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, PO Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-
1002, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business
of the Company in Chinese Mainland is located at 14/
F Kunlun Center Office Building, No. 9 Fuyi Street,
Fengtai District, Beijing, the People's Republic of China
(the “"PRC").

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group's
immediate holding company is CRH (Medical) Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
and the ultimate holding company is China Resources
Company Limited (“CR Co."), a state-owned enterprise
established in the PRC. None of them produce financial
statements available for public use.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) were mainly
engaged in (i) provision of general healthcare services;
(i) provision of hospital management services, sale
of pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical
consumables and provision of other hospital ancillary
services in Chinese Mainland.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
are disclosed in note 45 to the financial statements.

EHEBRERERABNHEHS
EMRUIABEREET AT - AAFF
M= Rt U B 4th Floor, Harbour
Place, 103 South Church Street, PO
Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman lIslands Z</A &) 7£ #° B P9 ih
NEEEEMBUNPEARHENE
(ThrE)) IR E R EEEHINR
EmPORFE141Z5

REREMR AEBNERIZERAT
~EHER (BR BRQE (—HBR
REBERRESEMMINARE) > &
RERATAPEEBARAR (TH
BERH) (—EARFBEALZINEE ®
F) ZFATHEFHRITARERDN
LUREEE

TEE> ARBREMBAT (B
MAEE) T2RERPEAM)E
MG EBERT (N RHEBREER
HHEEm BRASMEREM
BUR R Hoth B B 7 £ AR 75 ©

TRBEEMBRABZFHFBNMBR
RUTEEABHIFE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR AR M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B&BHEIEAES » UARETIR)

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets
at FVTPL which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in RMB and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

As disclosed in Note 38, the comparative information
has been restated to account for business combination
under common control completed during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB1.78 billion. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group has unutilised bank
facilities of approximately HKD2.60 billion and RMB4.10
billion (equivalent to approximately RMB6.46 billion
in total). The directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's cash flow forecast for the next twelve
months and are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient facilities to repay the liabilities. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company consider it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

MBEREERRERE2RNESS
ZHBERMBREEHEIRES
DERB 2 3 88 B KR B o BR B A L

MEEN ARAMBEREREELEME
AR FRIEFINGRER MBI R IUA
REI&K FIESREUERELN
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B IR EE E2023F 128318 IEF
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R2023%F 128310 A EEES XH)
BIRTTREBEN26EETKARE
41.087T &N HE AR ¥64.6f87T) ©
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ERHEGEEEEGR AL AREE
ERAHRFERERERURESMTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
I ==

(Expres

A F5 e R MY 5E

sed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (FBRSBAEIEREES » UARESIR)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has,
directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Intra-group balances
and transactions, and any unrealised income and
expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR AR M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B&BHEIEAES » UARETIR)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

The Group has applied the following new and amended
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

o International Financial Reporting Standard
(“IFRS") 17, Insurance contracts

o Amendments to International Accounting
Standard ("IAS") 8, Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates

° Amendments to |IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

° Amendments to IAS 12, /ncome taxes. Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

o Amendments to |AS 12, /ncome taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules
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The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. None of these developments have
had a material effect on how the Group's results and
financial position for the current period have been
prepared or presented.

In addition, the accounting policies that are first
adopted by the Group in 2023 are set out below:

Business combinations under common
control

An acquisition of a business which is a business
combination under common control is accounted
for using the pooling of interests method whereby
the assets and liabilities acquired are accounted
for at carryover predecessor values from the date
when the Group and the acquired business are first
under common control. The difference between the
consideration paid by the Group and the net assets or
liabilities of the business acquired is adjusted against
equity. The results and cash flows of the acquired
business under common control are consolidated from
the date when the Group and the acquired business
first came under common control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B&BHEIEAES » UARETIR)

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the IASB has issued a number of amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2023 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

Effective

for accounting
periods
beginning on
or after

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2024
of financial statements:
Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (2020
amendments ")

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2024
of financial statements: Non-
current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”)

Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: 1 January 2024
Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of 1 January 2024
cash flows and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures. Supplier
finance arrangements

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects 1 January 2025
of changes in foreign exchange
rates. Lack of exchangeability
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
a long term interest of generally not less than
20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.
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(a) Investments in associates and joint

ventures (continued)

The Group's investments in associates and a joint
venture are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the Group’'s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group's share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and a joint venture is
included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate or joint venture, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's investments in
the associates or joint venture, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates or
joint venture is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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(b) Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date
fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities
and assets includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.
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(b) Business combinations and goodwiill

(continued)

Any contingent consideration is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units (“CGU"s), or groups of
CGUs ("CGU groups”), that are expected to
benefit from the combination. The CGUs or groups
of CGUs are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

(b) ZFEESHKIBE w

ERENAERERUEERIRNA
AEBERR - RIBSEENE
BHNRNAREBRANEEE
MARBEZSHNIBmIES -5
ERBURDERERIES A
TEHHEEME RENGS
St AEmP e

BB RRAE EEA
E IS FEREGNSEAK
REBIERTR A BRI 7 Ik
BRI 2 B ERIAB LT U
AHABEEFERMAEER
HIER D o i B R HthIEE B
MERFIBEE EFENARE
Tﬁ ﬁ%ﬁ#éﬂ‘%ﬁ@ﬁﬁaﬁﬁ
5049 o5 B W BB W

M HEEBE BB AR M
REtREGEEAE - WEREAE
#%%E“%%%%ﬁﬁ?%/
B REFHBEEMEBHEE
TREAS ~EESFN128
TEETHERERS - R E
ASRME  REBSHFWERN
e B W R HED B =R
REHBAMEZENRERS
ReEt8MU (REEEEN)
gReEELBEMUMER (REEE
B4R - REEEBMIHIR
TEEBMUANEMASBEER
wREEREEEE R

ERBRIZRAMRAR —T_—FERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fra B RRM

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (BB AIEHES » UAREIIR)

(b) Business combinations and goodwiill

(c)

(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the CGU/CGU group to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the CGU/CGU group is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU/CGU
group and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU/CGU group retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at
FVTPL at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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(c)
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(c) Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred
tax assets and financial assets), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's
or CGU's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a CGU for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated
to an individual CGU if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

(e)

(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

or
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(e) Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

(e) BABET @

(b)
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Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-
line basis to write off the cost of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2% to 12%
Fixture and leasehold Over the shorter of

improvement lease terms and 10%
Medical equipment 10% to 20%
Motor vehicles 10%
Office equipment 20%

Allocated land Not depreciated
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fra B RRM

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (BB AIEHES » UAREIIR)

(f)

(g9)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents
buildings and related improvements under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost. The
cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

(f)

(g)
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(g)

(h)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR AR M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (BB HEIGHAEI » UAREIIR)

Intangible assets (other than
gOOdWI") (continued)

Operating rights under IOT arrangements

The operating rights are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful
economic lives of 16 to 30 years.

Good Supply Practice licence for
pharmaceuticals (“GSP Licence”)

The GSP Licence is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over its estimated useful
economic life of 46 months.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets. At inception or on reassessment of
a contract that contains a lease component
and non-lease components, the Group adopts
the practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

(g)

(h)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R M HRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (BB AIEHES » UAREIIR)

(h) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased properties
Medical equipment

50 to 60 years
1 to 9 years
1 to b years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

(h) A& @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR AR M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B&BHEIEAES » UARETIR)

(h) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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(h) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases (that is those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies
at lease inception (or when there is a lease
modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all